DIFFERENCES IN PRIVATE SCHOOL PRINCIPAL LEADERSHIP BEHAVIORS BY STUDENT ENROLLMENT: A NATIONAL STUDY

A Dissertation

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Educational Leadership

Sam Houston State University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

by

Rosemary Ustinoff-Brumbelow

May, 2019

DIFFERENCES IN PRIVATE SCHOOL PRINCIPAL LEADERSHIP BEHAVIORS BY STUDENT ENROLLMENT: A NATIONAL STUDY

by

Rosemary Ustinoff-Brumbelow

APPROVED:

Dr. John R. Slate Dissertation Co-Chair

Dr. George W. Moore Dissertation Co-Chair

Dr. Frederick C. Lunenburg Dissertation Committee Member

Dr. Stacey L. Edmonson Dean, College of Education

DEDICATION

This body of work is dedicated to my loving, kind, and generous husband, Robert, and to my smart, beautiful, and capable children, Sara, Rachel, and Hanna. I thank them for making my dreams come true. I am most proud of my role in life as wife and mother.

ABSTRACT

Ustinoff-Brumbelow, Rosemary, *Differences in private school principal leadership behaviors by student enrollment: A national study*. Doctor of Education (Educational Leadership), May, 2019, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas.

Purpose

The purpose of this journal-ready dissertation was to determine the extent to which principals of private elementary schools differed in their emphasis for training teachers, on how they spend their work week, and the specific problem matters they encounter in their school based on school size. In the first journal article, the degree to which differences were present between private elementary school principals as a function of school enrollment size in their emphasis of training teachers were ascertained. In the second article, the extent to which private elementary school principals as a function of school enrollment size differed in the tasks in which they spend their work week were determined. In the third investigation, the extent to which private elementary school principals differed as a function of school enrollment size in specific problem matters which they encounter were addressed.

Method

A causal-comparative research design was used in this quantitative study. Principals' responses from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 principal survey, obtained from the National Center for Education Statistics, were analyzed for this study. The variables that were analyzed as a function of school enrollment size were: training and support for teachers, the way principals spent their work week, and the problem matters addressed on the campus.

iv

Findings

Principals in Large-size private elementary schools provided statistically significantly more training and support to teachers in teaching effective reading strategies, in collecting and managing data, and in interpreting and using data than principals in Small-size private elementary schools. Regarding how principals spend their time during the work week, principals of Large-size schools allocated more time each week working with teachers on instructional issues; on student discipline and attendance; on meeting with parents; and on meeting with students than was allocated by principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools addressed problem matters in children bringing in or using illegal drugs, vandalism of school property, student bullying, and class cutting statistically significantly more frequently than principals of Small-size schools. Implications for policy and recommendations for research were provided.

KEY WORDS: ECLS-K, Private schools, Student enrollment, Small-size schools, Large-size schools, Training areas, Principal Emphases, Time Management, Problem Matters.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work has been inspired by passion and love. I am grateful to many individuals for encouraging me to pursue my dreams. First and foremost, I acknowledge my parents who did their best in raising seven children during difficult times.

I am grateful to all of the staff, current, and past, of Esprit International School who have propelled me to be a better leader. I appreciate the lessons they have inspired me to learn. I look forward to the lessons we will learn together. I thank Connie, my sister, for having trust in me to step away from the security of teaching in the public school sector to help me establish Esprit. She is a wonderful teacher and a loving sister.

I am thankful to Cohort 36: Rolando, Robert, Kasey, Shara, LaTracey, and John. I remember the first day we met, each excited about the opportunities for growth that were shining before us. This has been an incredible journey. I have learned so much from each of them. I have grown and changed as a result of these lessons.

I appreciate the lessons learned from all of my professors, Dr. Combs, Dr. Polnick, Dr. Harris, Dr. Bustamante, Dr. Onwuegbuzie, Dr. Moore, Dr. Slate, Dr. Borg, and Dr. Hemmen. Some lessons provided academic growth, but the most important lessons were the one that provided personal growth. I extend a special thank you to Dr. Moore, Dr. Slate, and Dr. Lunenburg. Dr. Moore provided extensive feedback during proposal class that set the tone for the expectations for completing the dissertation. I kept the mantra to "keep writing" although it was difficult at times. Dr. Lunenburg also provided valuable feedback. Dr. Slate kept my kite in the air. His almost immediate response to provide feedback propelled me forward. He is dedicated to ensuring his students are successful and is an incredible teacher.

vi

I thank my beautiful children, Sara Elizabeth, Rachel Claire, and Hanna Elyse. They bring such joy to my life. I have loved being their mom from the moment I knew they were a part of me, growing to become the beautiful women they are today.

I am immensely grateful to Eldon and Loretta for bringing into existence the most wonderful person in this world, my husband Robert. Rob has fulfilled the promise he made to me to help make my dreams come true. I believe that I am a better person because of his love. His support has made this dissertation possible. He created the perfectly prepared environment in our home to facilitate my success in this endeavor. He cooked my meals, laundered my clothes, held me close, and encouraged me to write when I did not want to write. I thank him from the bottom of my heart.

With sincere love and appreciation, I acknowledge each of these individuals for helping make my dreams come true.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONiii
ABSTRACT iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS viii
LIST OF TABLES xi
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION
Statement of the Problem
Purpose of the Study
Significance of the Study
Definition of Terms23
Literature Review Search Procedures
Delimitations27
Limitations
Assumptions
Procedures
Organization of the Study
CHAPTER II: DIFFERENCES IN WHAT PRINCIPALS OF SMALL-SIZE
PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AND PRINCIPALS OF LARGE-SIZE
PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS EMPHASIZE IN THEIR TEACHER
TRAINING: A NATIONAL ANALYSIS
Abstract

Method44
Results46
Discussion
Conclusion
References
CHAPTER III: DIFFERENCES IN HOW PRINCIPALS OF SMALL-SIZE
PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AND PRINCIPALS OF LARGE-SIZE
PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS SPEND THEIR WORK WEEK
Abstract
Method75
Results77
Discussion
Conclusion
References
CHAPTER IV: DIFFERENCES IN THE PROBLEM MATTERS ADDRESSED
BETWEEN PRINCIPALS OF SMALL-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY
SCHOOLS AND PRINCIPALS OF LARGE-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY
SCHOOLS
Abstract97
Method106
Results109
Discussion114
Conclusion117

References	
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	
Conclusion	
REFERENCES	
Appendix	
Vita	

LIST OF TABLES

TA	BLE	Page
2.1	Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Effective Reading	
	Strategies by School Size Status	60
2.2	Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Effective Mathematic	S
	Strategies by School Size Status	61
2.3	Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Behavioral Support	
	Strategies by School Size Status	62
2.4	Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Collecting and	
	Managing Data by School Size Status	63
2.5	Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Interpreting and	
	Using Data by School Size Status	64
3.1	Descriptive Statistics for the Number of Hours Spent per Week for	
	Small-size Private Elementary School Principals	92
3.2	Descriptive Statistics for the Number of Hours Spent per Week for	
	Large-size Private Elementary School Principals	93
3.3	Descriptive Statistics for the Percentage of Hours Spent per Week for	
	Small-size Private Elementary School Principals	94
3.4	Descriptive Statistics for the Percentage of Hours Spent per Week for	
	Large-size Private Elementary School Principals	95
4.1	Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Theft Reported Between	
	Private Elementary School Principals by School-size Status	124
4.2	Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Physical Conflicts Between	
	Private Elementary School Principals by School-size Status	

4.3 Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Alcohol Use Between	
Private Elementary School Principals by School-size Status	126
4.4 Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Illegal Drug Use Between	
Private Elementary School Principals by School-size Status	127
4.5 Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Vandalism Between	
Private Elementary School Principals by School-size Status	128
4.6 Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Bullying Between	
Private Elementary School Principals by School-size Status	129
4.7 Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Classroom Disorder Between	
Private Elementary School Principals by School-size Status	130
4.8 Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Class Cutting Between	
Private Elementary School Principals by School-size Status	131
5.1 Summary of Statistical Analysis of Principal Areas of Training	
as a Function of School Size	133
5.2 Summary of Statistical Analysis of Principal Areas of Emphasis	
as a Function of School Size	134
5.3 Summary of Statistical Analysis of Principal Problem Matters Addressed	
as a Function of School Size	

CHAPTER

INTRODUCTION

The primary goal of school superintendents, principals, and teachers is to provide a high-quality educational experience for students to achieve their potential in college, career, and in life. Researchers (e.g., Hall, Quinn, & Gollnick, 2018) have identified that the most important school-related factor influencing student achievement is an inspiring and informed teacher. Teachers who teach well possess the skillset to accomplish the mission of serving the social, emotional, academic and developmental needs of students. Principals may serve a pivotal role in helping teachers accomplish their mission by providing the structure needed to support student success.

In this journal-ready dissertation, the extant research literature in three areas was reviewed. In the first review area, the empirical literature on the influence of principals on teacher training and support was discussed. In the second literature review section, specific activities that principals emphasize at their school campuses in how they spend their work week were addressed. In the third review area, the impact of school culture and the problem matters principals address was analyzed.

Review of the Literature Regarding School Size and Areas Principals Emphasize for Teacher Training

Teachers often face obstacles in their efforts to enhance student learning, however effective training may provide teachers with the knowledge, experience, and guidance for handling these obstacles (Combs, Edmonson, & Harris, 2013). Teachers confront issues which include differentiating instruction, handling behavioral challenges, delivering content, and implementing new technology. Adequate training ensures teachers are supported and possess the skills necessary to teach effectively (Hall et al., 2018)).

Educators are expected to possess a myriad of skills to help close achievement gaps, meet progress goals, attend to students with special needs, and remain informed of best practices in education (Blase, Blase, & Phillips, 2010; Hall et al., 2018; Ravitch, 2014). According to Ravitch (2014), teachers administer formative and summative assessment and analyze data (a) to identify areas in need for improvement, (b) to set improvement priorities, and (c) to determine how programs and strategies affect student achievement. Therefore, professional development targeted at identifying student needs as indicated by data analysis is essential to empower teachers to cultivate student growth (Blase et al., 2010; Ravitch, 2014).

Researchers (e.g., Zepeda, 2015) have contended teacher training and professional development affect student achievement. Teacher participation in professional development is standard practice in public schools due to the demands for performance-based accountability mandated by the No Child Left Behind Act (2001) and the Every Student Succeeds Act (2015). Effective public school administrators organize induction programs to train and support new teachers, as well as provide on-going training to ensure teachers follow best practices (Blase et al., 2010). Be that as it may, teacher training is not a standardized, required practice for private school teachers in the United States (U.S. Department of Education, 2009).

Numerous researchers (e.g., Béteille, Kalogrides, & Loeb, 2009; Grissom & Loeb, 2011) have established links between leadership and school success. According to Horng and Loeb (2010), instructional leaders perform classroom observations and direct

instruction to ensure effective teaching and learning occurs in their schools. Instructional improvement practices are also linked to organizational management (Grissom & Loeb, 2011) as these leaders also affect the quality of schools through their effect on school staff and school structures (Horng & Loeb, 2010). Leaders are responsible for hiring, assigning, and retaining quality teachers and also ensuring that teachers engage in relevant professional development. Furthermore, Horng and Loeb determined that student learning increases when principals focus on organizational management that provides teachers with access to support and the use of school resources for instructional improvement.

Investments made by principals to provide teacher training and support increases teacher effectiveness and improves the quality of schools. The contributions principals make in this effort represent that which Hargreaves & Fullan (2013) defined as human capital which are the skills and competencies an individual contributes to his profession. Therefore, principals' efforts to improve teachers' skills and competencies represent an investment in human capital. School district administrators and principals, encouraged by the results of research studies (Donaldson, 2013), increasingly have emphasized human capital management to affect school outcomes.

Donaldson (2013) examined the obstacles principals encountered when hiring, assigning, evaluating, and providing professional development opportunities and the effects these tasks had on student achievement. School principals, in Donaldson's study, used professional development to raise teacher effectiveness but identified several barriers to successful implementation. Approximately, one-half of the principals stated the lack of funding was a hurdle to overcome in providing professional development. Additionally, principals cited diminished site-based decision making due to a lack of authority regarding input for choosing professional development at the school level. Finally, over 50% of the principals named time as an obstacle to providing professional development. Donaldson determined that many of the school principals used multiple techniques to align their human capital practices to overcome the barriers to accomplish their objectives. Principals relied on a multitude of skills, including leadership skills, ingenuity, initiative, and determination, in their effort to improve the quality of teaching in their schools. Principals who had participated in professional development on how to cultivate high-quality teaching were most effective in overcoming obstacles to improve the quality of instruction for their teaching staff (Donaldson, 2013).

In another study, Loeb, Kalogrides, and Béteille (2012) concluded principals in schools in which higher student achievement gains were generated emphasized different human capital management (e.g., methods in hiring, assigning, developing and retaining teachers) than principals in schools in which students did not gain as much in student achievement. Loeb et al. contended the quality of the teaching force was determined by "hiring high-quality teachers, retaining good teachers and removing poor teachers, and developing the teachers already at their school" (p. 271). Regarding teacher development, Loeb et al. declared professional development enhanced teaching and learning by improving the instructional skills of teaching staff especially in the first years of teaching.

Smith and Slate (2014) also examined the effect of private school leadership on student achievement. The particular study is relevant because their sample of school principals was also the focus of this article. Smith and Slate investigated the perceived emphasis placed on teacher collaboration by private school principals of low- and of high-achieving schools and documented that private school principals focused on staff working well together in both low-achieving and high-achieving schools. As such, the emphasis private school principals placed on working well with others may not be a distinctive aspect of leadership. The ability for staff members to collaborate may enhance the quality of teaching within a school and consequently may result in higher student achievement (DuFour, DuFour, & Eaker, 2009).

In a more recent study, Brown (2016) examined the leadership supports provided by one experienced elementary principal in a high-performing school. Replicating these leadership supports in other schools could have a positive influence on student achievement. The principal-provided supports included (a) a knowledge-centered curriculum aligned to standards; (b) a learner-centered environment led by efforts for data-driven instruction; (c) an assessment-centered instruction based on the development of school-specific objectives; and (d) a community focused organization for all stakeholders.

The principal in Brown's (2016) study was acknowledged frequently by the staff for facilitating a spirit of collaboration among the school's stakeholders that resulted in building positive school culture. Another positive benefit included a willingness for teachers to put forth extra effort to raise student achievement. Additionally, teachers collaborated to plan professional development on a regular and consistent basis using data to develop a site improvement plan in alignment with the school's goals.

The effort put forth by the principal to use data-driven instruction resulted in building community among teachers (Brown, 2016). The teachers reported using data to answer questions about instruction (e.g., create reading and math instructional groupings) which led to enhanced student achievement. The emphasis on data collection, coupled with a structure for teachers to make data-driven decisions, was essential to the school's success in meeting student's needs. Similarly, Azaiez and Slate (2017) contended principals contribute to the success or failure of a campus by recruiting, training, and retaining highly effective teachers.

Teachers' behaviors and classroom performance may be influenced by school leaders who identify specific goals and objectives as essential for student achievement (DuFour et al., 2009). Hence, it would be beneficial for principals to know these leadership factors. Borg and Slate (2014) asserted that deciding which specific leadership factors will result in student success may be difficult to determine. Public school principals responded to a section in the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 1998-1999 and indicated the extent to which they emphasized specific leadership goals and objectives with their teachers. Borg and Slate analyzed the responses of principals in low-performing schools and principals of high-performing schools. Statistically significant, albeit trivial, differences resulted between high- and low-performing schools possibly because principals self-reported the amount of emphasis placed on the goals and objectives. If the teachers were rating the emphasis principals put on specific leadership goals and objectives, then the results might be more reflective of actual practices performed by the principals.

In another study in which the dataset, the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 2011, was used, Azaiez (2017) analyzed how public elementary school principals spent their work week as a function of years of experience. The dataset

used in the Azaiez research was analyzed for this article. In his study, public school principals in Large-size elementary schools (i.e., student enrollments of 800 or more students) indicated a higher percentage of emphasis in all five of the training areas assessed than principals in Small-size (i.e., student enrollments of less than 400 students) and Moderate-size schools (i.e., student enrollment of 400 through 799 students). Specifically, principals in Large-size elementary schools spent a higher percentage of their time providing training and support to teachers in effective reading teaching strategies, effective mathematics teaching strategies, behavioral support, collecting and managing data, and interpreting and using data than principals in Small-size and Moderate-size schools. In other words, an increase in staff training was related with increased student enrollment on a campus. Azaiez asserted that principals in large-size schools have more staff which might account for the increase in time spent training teachers. Interestingly, all of the elementary school principals, regardless of student enrollment, identified the highest emphasis in training staff in teaching effective reading strategies, in collecting and managing data, and in interpreting and using data.

Several other factors related to school size may affect the training and support provided to teachers in private schools. In education, economies of scale are a theory associated with reducing a school's administrative costs by creating larger schools. The principle of economies of scale may have an effect on opportunities for teacher training whereby principals of large-size private schools may have more funding available for professional development than principals of small-size private schools (Riha, Slate, & Martinez-Garcia, 2013).

Small-size schools of 50 or fewer students constituted the enrollment of most private schools in the United States in 2015 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017a); therefore, considering the factors that may affect the quality of education imparted to students based on enrollment size has merit. According to the data compiled in the Digest of Education Statistics (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017b), the average salary for full-time teachers in private schools was \$42,100 whereas the average salary for full-time teachers in public schools was \$55,120. Lower salary offerings to private school teachers may fail to attract the most qualified and inspired teachers to fill vacant positions and administrators may consequently hire non-certified or less qualified teachers to fill vacancies (Slate & Jones, 2005). In these instances, student needs would be met most effectively with teacher support and training. Azaiez (2017) determined that in Large-size public schools, a higher percentage of principals provided training for teachers than principals in Moderate-size or Small-size public schools. Therefore, school enrollment size may be a factor that results in principals hiring teachers with lower qualifications because of low salary offerings (Slate & Jones, 2005) and principals having less funding available to provide training.

Slate and Jones (2005) reviewed the literature on the effect that school size based on student enrollment had on teacher quality. Researchers (e.g., Jackson, 1966; Pethel, 1978) in several of the evaluated studies documented better performance of larger schools regarding teacher qualifications and working conditions. Specifically, teachers in larger schools were more highly qualified than teachers in smaller schools in which fewer teachers have master's degrees or specialized training. Also, teachers in some smaller schools did not receive planning periods. In another examination of the literature on schools with small-size student enrollments, Jimerson (2006) reviewed the positive effects of low student enrollment on student learning and well-being. Teachers in schools with small-size enrollments had a positive attitude toward teaching, less absenteeism, increased collaboration with peers, and took more responsibility for student learning. Furthermore, teachers perceived professional development as more valuable for reasons such as being (a) focused on the specific needs of the community, (b) ongoing, and (c) peer-led. Slate and Jones (2005) confirmed similar findings related to increased teacher and student morale in schools with small-size student enrollments.

Review of the Literature for How Principals Spend Their Work Week

Every student is entitled to receive a high-quality educational experience to obtain the skills to be successful in life (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). Every school, whether public, charter, or private, should ensure practices are implemented to achieve this aim (DuFour, DuFour, & Eaker, 2009; Ravitch, 2014). Local and federal policy demands have placed greater accountability on public schools to raise student achievement (No Child Left Behind, 2002) and in recent years, these demands have increased (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). As a result, teachers in the public sector may experience stress which in turn may negatively affect the educational experience of students (von der Embse, Sandilos, Pendergast, & Mankin, 2016). Accordingly, some parents have resolved to seek choices in education for their child(ren) that may include private schools and charter schools. Although charter schools are often required to adhere to some level of government accountability, accountability in private schools varies by state and certification to teach is not required in all states (U.S. Department of Education, 2009). Consequently, the question may be asked whether these school choices provide a better alternative to public schools. How are parents ensured that their child(ren) receive(s) a high-quality educational experience?

Student achievement outcomes have been attributed to the work of the school leader. Leaders provide impetus for others to pursue the objectives of the organization, and the tasks that leaders perform are integral to guiding the organization's members in accomplishing goals (Northouse, 2013). Because an essential aim of an educational institution is to increase student achievement, principals are entrusted to ensure that the school's structure and the teachers, staff, and other school stakeholders are equipped to accomplish this purpose (DeVita et al., 2007).

In their attempt to bolster student success, elementary school principals execute a variety of functions. Job duties include performing administrative tasks such as interviewing teachers, filing reports, collecting data; serving as instructional leaders whereby encouraging teachers to try new and innovative teaching methods; meeting with students to coach or redirect behavior; conferencing with parents to discuss concerns; and teaching in the classroom. Over the last few decades, the principal's role has changed from operational manager to instructional leader (Leithwood & Louis, 2012). Furthermore, researchers (e.g., Blase, Blase, & Phillips, 2010; Leithwood & Louis, 2012; Marzano, Waters, & McNulty, 2005) have asserted that principals influence student achievement through instructional leadership. Instructional leadership may be defined as activities leaders engage in which support classroom teaching and student learning (Murphy, 1988).

Blase et al. (2010) contended that high-performing principals systematically organize administrative and instructional tasks with structures to support school improvement. The systems-development approach requires principals to use their time wisely and productively to provide support for teachers. Principals in the Blase et al. study reported that delegating administrative functions to other staff allowed them to stay focused on instructional work with teachers.

The day-to-day life of a school principal is ever changing. Camburn, Spillane, and Sebastian (2010) examined principals' use of a daily log for measuring leadership practice. The daily log instrument was created to evaluate an executive leadership development program for principals; 48 principals in a midsized urban school district participated in the study. The log contained a list of the leadership actions that principals' practice to influence people, processes, and organizational structures including (a) building operations, (b) finances, (c) student affairs, (d) personnel issues, (e) instructional leadership, and (f) professional growth. Principals reported spending about 23% of their time on student affairs and 19% of their time on instructional leadership. Personnel issues consumed about 14% of their time. Principals devoted less than 10% of their time on each of the remaining three leadership domains: building operations, finances, and professional growth. Camburn et al. concluded that the principals in their study devoted the bulk of their time to student affairs and instructional leadership. Because student achievement is attributable to the principal's instructional leadership practices (Blase et al., 2010), this information may be useful to practitioners to reflect on the effectiveness of their daily practices.

In a study on the relationship between principal's time allocation and work effectiveness, Smith (2013) analyzed data from the High School Longitudinal Survey of 2009 (HLS: 09) and focused on the effect of geographic location on each principal's time allocation. The National Center for Education Statistics administered the HLS: 09 as a national survey intended to provide an overview of the experience of U.S. high school students. Smith concluded that changes in neighborhood and community circumstances influenced the work activities of principals. In these instances, flexibility in adjusting work activities maintained or increased overall school effectiveness.

According to Smith (2013), principal work patterns are often interrupted and fragmented. Unfamiliar situations due to changing demographics could further challenge the principal's work day. Smith examined the weekly time allocation principals reported in hours per week spent (a) on working with teachers on instructional issues, (b) on internal school management, (c) on external school management, (d) on monitoring hallways/campus/lunchroom, (e) on their own teaching assignments, (f) on talking and meeting with parents, and (g) on meeting with students. The time allocated to the principals' teaching assignments yielded the highest mean score with 10 hours per week dedicated to this activity. Internal school management accounted for the second highest weekly time of about seven hours per week. Principals indicated spending about 3 hours per week on the remaining activities.

The time allocation reported by principals were different based on the community setting in which the principal worked (Smith, 2013). For example, principals from city and town settings cited spending more time on working with teachers on instructional issues than did principals from suburban and rural setting. In contrast principals in rural

and city settings spent more time on internal school management than did principals in suburban and town settings. Smith concluded that practice is affected by context and place and the school setting can influence how principals spend their time during the work week.

In a recent study, Azaiez (2017) used the same dataset analyzed in this study, the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 (ECLS-K: 2011). He examined the number of hours principals reported spending each week on working with teachers on instructional issues, internal school management, student discipline/attendance, monitoring hallways, teaching, talking and meeting with parents, meeting with students, and required paperwork as a function of years of experience. Azaiez identified categories of administrative experience based on the years of experience indicated on the questionnaire by the principals. New principals reported having 1-3 years of administrative experience, Moderately Experienced principals had 4-6 years of experience, and Experienced principals were administrators with more than six years of experience.

Experienced principals in the Azaiez (2017) study reported spending more hours on working with teachers on instructional issues and on required paperwork, yet fewer hours working on school management, discipline and attendance, monitoring areas, meetings with parents, and meeting with students than the New principals and Moderately Experienced principals. Azaiez theorized that Experienced principals might have more refined routines and systems in place on their campuses than New principals or Moderately Experienced principals. As a result, Experienced principals could devote more time working with teachers. In another study, analyzing the same dataset as used previously, Azaiez (2017) further examined the number of hours principals spent each week on specific activities as a function of school size determined by student enrollment. The specific activities again, included the number of hours spent each week on working with teachers on instructional issues, internal school management, student discipline/attendance, monitoring hallways, teaching, meeting and talking with parents, meeting with students, and required paperwork. School size based on school enrollment were: Small-size schools with less than 400 students, Moderate-size schools with 400-799 students, and Large-size schools with 799 or more students. Azaiez determined that principals in Large-size schools spent more time on working with teachers on instructional issues, on school management, on discipline and attendance, in talking and meeting with parents, in meeting with students, and on required paperwork than principals of Small-size schools and principals of Moderate-size schools. Furthermore, principals in schools with increasingly larger numbers of student enrollment spent more time on each of these tasks.

Because the time principals report working each week varied based on student enrollment, Azaiez (2017) converted the work hours into a percentage of the total week. As such, principals of Large-size schools devoted a higher percentage of their day on working with teachers on instructional issues and on required paperwork than principals in Small-size schools or Moderate-size schools. On the other hand, principals of Largesize schools spent a smaller percentage of the day working on discipline and attendance and monitoring school areas than principals of Small-size schools and Moderate-size schools. Though closely related to the current study, Azaiez focused on public school principals. As such, the degree to which the results reported by Azaiez are generalizable to private school principals is not known.

Review of the Literature for Problem Matters Principals Address

The time and effort that teachers and principals spend in addressing problem matters within their classrooms and schools affect student outcomes. Researchers (Catalano, Oesterle, Fleming, & Hawkins, 2004; Lee, Cornell, Gregory, & Fan, 2011; Payton et al., 2008; Wang, Selman, Dishion, & Stormshak, 2010) focused on public school communities confirm that safe and supportive schools provide opportunities for student outcomes such as reduced incidences in school violence (Lee et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2010) and engagement in risky behaviors (Catalano et al., 2004) along with increased academic achievement (Payton et al., 2008).

Because the number of students enrolled in private schools in the United States exceeds 5 million students (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017a), investigating the effect that problem matters affect students in private schools is warranted. Important to realize, the research literature related to problem matters addressed in private schools based as a function of school size is limited. Although some researchers (Almulla, 2015; Leithwood & Jantzi, 2009) have explored the effect of school size on school climate and discipline in public schools, few researchers have focused this attention on private schools.

In recent years, widely publicized instances of school violence (Musu-Gillette et al., 2018) have resulted in concern over whether school leaders are capable of educating students in environments free of social and physical aggression. Be that as it may, concern for student safety has been an ongoing issue for educators and the subject of federal mandates for many years. For example, in 1989, one element of the National Education Goals was that U.S. citizens would have "safe, disciplined, and drug-free schools" in an "environment conducive to learning" (Executive Office of the President, 1990, p. 6). More recently, non-academic factors that influence student learning and contribute to student success including health and safety, climate and culture, and positive behavior intervention and support were identified in the Every Student Succeeds Act (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). As a result of these mandates, school leaders are required to implement social competencies in addition to ensuring academic achievement.

Discipline problems in an educational setting require teachers and administrators to devote excessive amounts of time and energy toward their resolution, efforts that detract from classroom instruction (Blase, Blase, & Phillips, 2010). The manner in which problems are resolved may be dependent on several factors including: the culture and climate that permeates the school, the professional training provided to teachers to support classroom management practices, and the effectiveness of classroom management actions implemented by teachers to support student achievement (Blase et al., 2010).

The culture and climate of a school community affects the behavior of teachers and students (Allen, Grigsby, & Peters, 2015; DuFour, DuFour, & Eaker, 2009; Gershenson & Langbein, 2015; Goldkind & Farmer, 2013; Lunenburg & Ornstein, 2012). Lunenburg and Ornstein (2012) contended that school culture is comprised of the shared beliefs, attitudes, motivation, leadership, and communications that define the organization and establish standards within which all stakeholders function. School climate characterizes the physical and psychological aspects of a school (Lunenburg & Ornstein, 2012). Aspects of school climate are more responsive to change and contribute to the conditions required for effective teaching and learning to occur. Consequently, administrators and teachers who lead students in their academic development are also responsible for ensuring the school culture and climate is conducive to learning.

Stakeholders must cultivate the social, emotional, and academic aptitudes in which children learn to apply problem-solving skills, interact respectfully, and resolve conflict peacefully to accomplish the goal of ensuring a safe, supportive, favorable school climate is achieved. The National School Climate Center (2018) identified the quality and character of school life as crucial to the development of school climate. A favorable school climate occurs when norms, values, and expectations support people feeling socially, emotionally, and physically safe; students and others are engaged and respected; educators' model and nurture attitudes that emphasize the benefits and satisfaction gained from learning; and each person contributes to the operations of the school and the care of the physical environment (National School Climate Center, 2018).

School principals play a crucial role in ensuring the school environment is conducive to learning through the teachers they hire and the decisions they make that shape the school culture (Stewart, 2012). Researchers (Downer, Rimm-Kaufman, & Pianta, 2007; Greenwood, Horton, & Utley, 2002) confirmed active classroom engagement predicts student success; on the other hand, disruptive behavior predicts failure (Noltemeyer, Ward, & Mcloughlin, 2015). Disruptive student behavior is challenging for teachers and often affects the entire classroom due to the attention that is drawn from instruction to deal with the negative behavior. The effects of principal leadership on student achievement and school climate have been extensively analyzed by numerous researchers (e.g., Green, 2012; Hallinger & Heck, 2010; Louis, Dretzke, & Wahlstrom, 2010). Specifically, researchers (Danielson, 2006; Fullan, 2006; Leithwood, Louis, Anderson, & Wahlstrom, 2004) have documented the direct influence that principals have on student achievement through their interactions with students, input on the arrangement of classroom-sizes, and student placements in classrooms (Danielson, 2006; Fullan, 2006; Leithwood et al., 2004). Furthermore, Louis, Leithwood, Wahlstrom, and Anderson (2010) documented that principals indirectly affect student achievement through the influence they exert on the school's climate and culture through teacher professional development, increased collaboration, distributed leadership, and implementation of policies and procedures. Teacher preparation is enhanced by principals who use these techniques which in turn contributes to student success.

Unfortunately for some students, teachers enter the classroom with limited classroom management skills (Stewart, 2012). Gage, Scott, Hirn, and MacSuga-Gage (2018) confirmed that ineffectively handling student disruptions affects the entire classroom. Principals who provide teachers with support and training to identify and prevent disruptive classroom behaviors may serve to protect and preserve the social and instructional climate in the classroom.

Gage et al. (2018) examined the experiences of teachers as they implemented evidence-based classroom management in classrooms to determine their impact on student engagement. Effective classroom management decreases problem behavior and increases student achievement (Korpershoek et al., 2016; Oliver, Wehby, & Reschly, 2011). Gage et al. (2018) asserted that specific practices likely to increase student engagement include active teaching, increased opportunities for students to respond, and positive feedback to students.

During periods of teaching (Pianta, Hamre, & Allen, 2012), teachers engage in activities that include explaining, demonstrating or modeling a concept, principle or activity related to an academic topic while furthering the lesson/objective of the class; this active teaching increases the probability of student engagement (Pianta et al., 2012; Williford et al., 2013). Opportunities to respond are curriculum-related prompts provided by the teacher that may result in improved student outcomes (Kern & Clemens, 2007: MacSuga-Gage & Gage, 2015). Rates for the occurrence of opportunities to respond within three to five minutes have been documented to increase student engagement. Feedback to students through verbal and gestural positive performance feedback is another measure of teacher engagement that increases student achievement and social behavior. Hattie (2009) concluded that feedback ranked in the top 10 of all behaviors that teachers utilize to facilitate student success. According to Gage et al. (2018), teachers who actively engage students in classroom instruction experience increases in opportunities for student learning and reductions in student disruptions.

Another factor that may affect school climate and discipline is school size. Researchers (Gershenson & Langbein, 2015; Goldkind & Farmer, 2013; Johnston, 2009; Leung & Ferris, 2008) concluded that school size affects student behavior and academic achievement wherein higher rates of student discipline occur in larger schools. According to Coleman (1988), the size of a school affects the social capital within a school community. In larger schools, students interact less frequently with fellow students, teachers, and administrators (Gottfredson & DiPietro, 2011) than in smaller schools. On the other hand, researchers (Akerlof & Kranton, 2002; Boccardo, Schwartz, Stiefel, & Wiswall, 2013) have contended that students in small schools have better connections with the school and other students than students in large schools.

Statement of the Problem

Ensuring students receive a high-quality educational experience to achieve their potential in college, career, and life is the primary goal of school superintendents, principals, and teachers. The most important school-related factor influencing student achievement is an inspiring and informed teacher according to researchers (e.g., Hall et al., 2018). Teachers who teach well exude highly developed skill sets to accomplish the mission of serving the social, emotional, academic and developmental needs of students and the school principal may be instrumental in helping teachers accomplish their mission by providing the structure needed to support student success.

Teachers are required to perform multiple tasks in their day to day activities in working with students (Blase, Blase, & Phillips, 2010; Hall et al., 2018). Training and support provided by principals enhance the activities teachers engage in to improve student learning. Principals are called upon to ensure structures exist to provide appropriate professional learning opportunities for teachers (Cosner, 2009).

Performance-based accountability measures required in public schools (U.S. Department of Education, 2004; U.S. Department of Education, 2015) drive principals to keep teachers current in best practices (Cosner, 2009; Zepeda, 2015). In contrast, teacher requirements and participation in professional learning opportunities vary based on state regulations for private schools (U.S. Department of Education, 2009). Consequently, questions may arise regarding the quality of instruction teachers deliver to students in

private schools due to the lack of training and support in best practices delivered by principals in Small-size schools and in Large-size schools.

Shifting attention to best practices of principals, an examination of how private school principals spend their work week may reveal differences in time allocation between principals in Small-size schools and Large-size schools. Researchers (e.g., Blase et al., 2010; Cosner, 2009) have confirmed the actions of the school leader serving as an instructional leader affect student achievement. Consequently, the daily activities that require the principals' shift in focus from activities that bolster student achievement may diminish the goals of the organization. Differences in time allocation in private schools between principals of Small-size schools and principals of Large-size schools may affect the quality of student success in private schools.

Finally, student outcomes may be affected when teachers' and principals' time and effort are diverted to addressing problem matters in the classroom. Safe and supportive schools provide opportunities for students to thrive socially, emotionally, and academically (Catalano, Oesterle, Fleming, & Hawkins, 2004: Lee, Cornell, Gregory, & Fan, 2011; Payton et al., 2008; Wang, Selman, Dishion, & Stormshak, 2010). A reduction in the problem matters addressed in the school environment may enhance the cultivation of social, emotional and academic skills that support the application of problem-solving skills, respectful interaction and conflict resolution.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this journal-ready dissertation was to determine the extent to which principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools differed in their emphasis for training and support for teachers, on how they spent their work week, and the specific problem matters they encountered in their school. In the first journal article, the degree to which differences were present between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in their emphasis of training teachers were ascertained. In the second article, the extent to which principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools differed in the tasks in which they spent their work week were determined. In the third investigation, the extent to which differences existed between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in specific problem matters they encountered were addressed. Data from a national dataset on principals were examined in each investigation. Through analyzing this national dataset, findings may be generalized to principals at private elementary schools in the United States.

Significance of the Study

Principals play a pivotal role in establishing the culture that permeates the school and affects the quality of each student's educational experience (Blase et al., 2010; Borg & Slate, 2014; Marzano et al., 2005). Essential factors to address in establishing a school culture focused on student' educational needs include the training and support teachers receive, how principals spend their time during the work week, and the problem matters addressed in the school.

Private schools are not federally mandated to ensure the quality of a student's education prepares them for college, career, and life. Consequently, this research is significant because students served in private schools should be entitled to a high-quality educational experience that prepares them for their future. To date, researchers have focused their studies on how the processes embedded in the educational institution affect students in public schools, and very few have explored the effect of the quality of the educational institution on the student's experience in private schools. Therefore, findings may have practical implications for private school administrators concerned with examining ways to improve their school outcomes and improve student success.

Definition of Terms

The following terms have been defined to assist the reader in understanding the context of this journal-ready dissertation.

Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten (ECLS-K)

The National Center for Education Statistics (2018a) described the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten as the following:

The Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 (ECLS-K:2011) is sponsored by the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) within the Institute of Education Sciences (IES) of the U.S. Department of Education. The ECLS-K: 2011 encompasses information from several sources to provide rich data on children's early school experiences beginning with kindergarten and following children through fifth grade. The ECLS-K: 2011 provides descriptive information on children's status at entry to school, their transition into school, and their progression through the elementary grades. The longitudinal nature of the ECLS-K: 2011 data enables researchers to study how a wide range of individual, family, school, and community factors are associated with school performance over time. (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018a, para 1)

Instructional Leadership

Instructional leadership, as defined by Leithwood, Louis, Anderson and Wahlstrom (2004), are practices utilized by leaders to improve teachers' classroom practices as the direction of the school.

Large-size Private School

In this journal-ready dissertation, a large-size private school is a school with a student enrollment of 250 or more students (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013).

National Center for Education Statistics

The National Center for Education Statistics, part of the U.S. Department of Education and the Institute of Education Sciences, is the primary federal unit for gathering and analyzing data associated with education in the U.S. and other nations. The National Center for Education Statistics is mandated by the U.S. Congress to gather, organize, evaluate, and report complete statistics on the status of American education. In addition, the National Center for Education Statistics is required to conduct and publish reports as well as assess and report on education activities abroad (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019, About us-para. 1).
Tasks and Duties

Principals recounted the number of hours spent on average per week on tasks and duties in response to a question in the Spring 2011 Kindergarten School Administrator Questionnaire, prepared by the U.S. Department of Education (2011). Specifically, the tasks and duties were: working with teachers on instructional issues; administering internal school management; handling student discipline/attendance; monitoring hallways, playground, lunchroom; teaching; talking and meeting with parents; meeting with students; and completing paperwork required by local, state, or federal authorities (U.S. Department of Education, 2011, p. 33).

Private School Principal

In this journal-ready dissertation, a private school principal is a principal who works in a school that is not supported primarily by public funds, provides classroom instruction for one or more of grades K-12 or comparable ungraded levels, and has one or more teachers. Organizations or institutions that provide support for home schooling without offering classroom instruction for students are not included (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018b).

Problems Addressed

In response to a question in the Spring 2011 Kindergarten School Administrator Questionnaire, prepared by the U.S. Department of Education (2011), principals reported how often the specific types of problems occurred at their school. In this study problems addressed by private school principals will include: (a) theft; (b) physical conflicts among students; (c) children bringing in or using alcohol at school; (d) children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school; (e) vandalism of school property; (f) student bullying; (g) widespread disorder in classrooms; and (h) class cutting (U.S. Department of Education, 2011, p. 17).

Small-size Private School

In this journal-ready dissertation, a small-size private school is a school with a student enrollment of less than 250 students (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013).

Training and Support

Training and support areas included in the Spring 2012 Kindergarten School Administrator Questionnaire, compiled by the National Center for Education Statistics (2012), were training and support to classroom teachers in: (a) reading teaching strategies; (b) mathematics teaching strategies; (c) behavioral supports for students; (d) collecting, organizing, and managing assessment data; and (e) the interpretation and use of assessment data to guide instruction (U.S. Department of Education, 2011, p. 32).

Literature Review Search Procedures

For this journal-ready dissertation, the literature regarding principal emphasis on training and supporting teachers, time spent on certain tasks, problem matters encountered, and school size was examined. Phrases used in the search for relevant literature were: private school principal, private school principal emphasis, training for teachers, problem matters addressed, and school size. Searches were conducted through the EBSCO Host database and only peer-reviewed articles from 2000-2018 were considered.

Key word searches for *principal training for teachers* yielded 104 articles published from 2000-2018. Adding *private school* yielded 2 results. Key word searches for *principal time management* yielded 17 results. When the key word *private school* was added, the search query yielded no results. A key word *principal emphasis or time* was used, and 96,061 articles were displayed. When *private school* was added to the search, this number was condensed to 840 results. Further adding the key word *United States* condensed the results to 188 articles. Key word searches for *problem matters addressed by principals* was used to display 680 articles and adding *private school* did not yield any results. The key word *school enrollment size* was used and yielded 81 articles. This number was reduced to 2 articles when the key word *private school* was added.

Delimitations

In this investigation, only the self-reported behaviors of elementary principals in Small-size private elementary schools and in Large-size private elementary schools were addressed. Also, how principals self-reported their emphasis on training and supporting teachers, how they spent their time during the work week, and the problem matters they encountered in the 2010-2011 school year were analyzed. Restricting the analysis to a single year of data reduced the degree to which the results may be generalized. Another delimitation resulted from the collection of data from principals who voluntarily completed the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten survey for the 2011-2012 school year consequently limiting the number of participants. Additionally, the three studies in this journal-ready dissertation were restricted to elementary school principals in private schools. As such, the extent which the findings are generalizable to elementary school principals in public schools is not known.

Limitations

For this journal-ready dissertation, the relationship of private school size (i.e., Small and Large) with the emphasis principals placed on teacher training and support, with how principals spend their work week, and with the problem matters they encountered were addressed. As such, several limitations are present. The fact that the study data were collected from self-reports completed by the principals who participated in the study is a major limitation. It is possible the principals were biased in reporting data to this survey which resulted in results that were not accurate or honest.

The use of a 2011-2012 dataset presents another limitation. The topic of school choice has focused increased attention on private schools as an alternative to public schooling since the 2011-2012 school year. This attention may have caused private school principals to analyze how they train and support teachers, adjust how they spend their work week, and changed the problem matters they encounter. Consequently, any results that may be present could be due to variables other than school size.

Assumptions

For this journal-ready dissertation, the assumptions were made that school size, principal emphasis on training and support of teachers, time spent during the work week, and problem matters encountered were recorded accurately and consistently on the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten 2011 questionnaire. An assumption was also made that school size, principal emphasis on training and support of teachers, time spent during the work week, and problem matters encountered were recorded accurately and consistently by the National Center for Education Statistics. Any results obtained from this journal-ready dissertation would be affected by any deviations from these assumptions.

Procedures

Upon procuring approval of the journal-ready dissertation from this researcher's doctoral dissertation committee, a request was submitted to the Sam Houston State University Institutional Review Board to conduct the study. On receiving approval from the Institutional Review Board, the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten 2011-2012 archival data were analyzed. The dataset was previously downloaded from the National Center for Education Statistics. The National Center for Education statistics publishes this dataset, along with other education datasets, on their website for easy public access.

Organization of the Study

In this journal-ready dissertation, three research investigations were conducted. In the first study, the research questions addressed were related to whether principals of Small-size private elementary schools differed from principals of Large-size private elementary schools in their areas of emphasis in training teachers. In the second study, the degree to which principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools differed in the tasks in which they spent their time during the work week were addressed. In the final study, the focus was on the extent to which problem matters encountered differed between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools.

This journal-ready dissertation consists of five chapters. Included in Chapter I are the background of the study, statement of the problem, purpose of the study, significance of the study, definition of terms, delimitations, limitations, assumptions, and outline of the journal-ready dissertation. In Chapter II, the emphasis in training and support for teachers between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools were examined in the first journal-ready article. In Chapter III, the extent to which principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools differed in the tasks in which they spend their work week were presented in the second journal-ready article. In Chapter IV, the problem matters addressed in their schools between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools were the focus of the third journal-ready article. For each of these studies, a separate Method section was created. Finally, in Chapter V, an overview of the results interpreted in the three research articles was provided, including implications for future policy and practice, along with recommendations for future research.

CHAPTER II

DIFFERENCES IN WHAT PRINCIPALS OF SMALL-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AND PRINCIPALS OF LARGE-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS EMPHASIZE IN THEIR TEACHER TRAINING: A NATIONAL ANALYSIS

This dissertation follows the style and format of Research in the Schools (RITS).

Abstract

In this investigation, the degree to which differences were present between private elementary school principals at Small-size schools (i.e., less than 250 students) and private elementary school principals at Large-size schools (i.e., 250 or more students) in the training and support they reported providing for teachers in specific areas was addressed. Data were acquired from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 Principal Survey. Of the five areas examined, inferential statistical analyses revealed the presence of statistically significant differences in three of the ways private elementary school principals reported in training areas they emphasized. Private school principals of Large-size elementary schools emphasized more training and support for their teachers in effective reading strategies, in collecting and managing data, and in interpreting and using data than was emphasized by private school principals of Small-size elementary schools. Suggestions for future research and implications for policy and practice were made.

Keywords: ECLS-K, Student enrollment, Small-size schools, Large-size schools, Training areas, Principal Emphases.

DIFFERENCES IN WHAT PRINCIPALS OF SMALL-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AND PRINCIPALS OF LARGE-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS EMPHASIZE IN THEIR TEACHER TRAINING: A NATIONAL ANALYSIS

Teachers often face obstacles in their efforts to enhance student learning, however effective training often provide teachers with the knowledge, experience, and guidance for handling these obstacles (Combs, Edmonson, & Harris, 2013). Teachers confront issues which include differentiating instruction, handling behavioral challenges, delivering content, and implementing new technology. Adequate training ensures teachers are supported and possess the skills necessary to teach effectively (Hall, Quinn, & Gollnick, 2018).

Educators are expected to possess a myriad of skills to help close achievement gaps, meet progress goals, attend to students with special needs, and remain informed of best practices in education (Blase, Blase, & Phillips, 2010; Hall et al., 2018; Ravitch, 2014). According to Ravitch (2014), teachers administer formative and summative assessment and analyze data (a) to identify areas in need for improvement, (b) to set improvement priorities, and (c) to determine how programs and strategies affect student achievement. Therefore, professional development targeted at identifying student needs as indicated by data analysis is essential to empower teachers to cultivate student growth (Blase et al., 2010; Ravitch, 2014).

Researchers (e.g., Zepeda, 2015) have contended teacher training and professional development affect student achievement. Teacher participation in professional development is standard practice in public schools due to the demands for performance-

based accountability mandated by the No Child Left Behind Act (2001) and the Every Student Succeeds Act (2015). Effective public school administrators organize induction programs to train and support new teachers, as well as provide on-going training to ensure teachers follow best practices (Blase et al., 2010). Be that as it may, teacher training is not a standardized, required practice for private school teachers in the United States (U.S. Department of Education, 2009).

Numerous researchers (e.g., Béteille, Kalogrides, & Loeb, 2009; Grissom & Loeb, 2011) have established links between leadership and school success. According to Horng and Loeb (2010), instructional leaders perform classroom observations and direct instruction to ensure effective teaching and learning occurs in their schools. Instructional improvement practices are also linked to organizational management (Grissom & Loeb, 2011) as these leaders also affect the quality of schools through their effect on school staff and school structures (Horng & Loeb, 2010). Leaders are responsible for hiring, assigning, and retaining quality teachers and also ensuring that teachers engage in relevant professional development. Furthermore, Horng and Loeb determined that student learning increases when principals focus on organizational management that provides teachers with access to support and the use of school resources for instructional improvement.

Investments made by principals to provide teacher training and support increases teacher effectiveness and improves the quality of schools. The contributions principals make in this effort represent that which Hargreaves & Fullan (2013) defined as human capital which are the skills and competencies an individual contributes to his profession. Therefore, principals' efforts to improve teachers' skills and competencies represent an investment in human capital. School district administrators and principals, encouraged by the results of research studies (Donaldson, 2013), increasingly have emphasized human capital management to affect school outcomes.

Donaldson (2013) examined the obstacles principals encountered when hiring, assigning, evaluating, and providing professional development opportunities and the effects these tasks had on student achievement. School principals, in Donaldson's study, used professional development to raise teacher effectiveness but identified several barriers to successful implementation. Approximately, one half of the principals stated the lack of funding was a hurdle to overcome in providing professional development. Additionally, principals cited diminished site-based decision making due to a lack of authority regarding input for choosing professional development at the school level. Finally, over 50% of the principals named time as an obstacle to providing professional development. Donaldson determined that many of the school principals used multiple techniques to align their human capital practices to overcome the barriers to accomplish their objectives. Principals relied on a multitude of skills, including leadership skills, ingenuity, initiative, and determination, in their effort to improve the quality of teaching in their schools. Principals who had participated in professional development on how to cultivate high-quality teaching were most effective in overcoming obstacles to improve the quality of instruction for their teaching staff (Donaldson, 2013).

In another study, Loeb, Kalogrides, and Béteille (2012) concluded principals in schools in which higher student achievement gains were generated emphasized different human capital management (e.g., methods in hiring, assigning, developing and retaining teachers) than principals in schools in which students did not gain as much in student achievement. Loeb et al. contended the quality of the teaching force was determined by "hiring high-quality teachers, retaining good teachers and removing poor teachers, and developing the teachers already at their school" (p. 271). Regarding teacher development, Loeb et al. declared professional development enhanced teaching and learning by improving the instructional skills of teaching staff especially in the first years of teaching.

Smith and Slate (2014) also examined the effect of private school leadership on student achievement. The particular study is relevant because their sample of school principals was also the focus of this article. Smith and Slate investigated the perceived emphasis placed on teacher collaboration by private school principals of low- and of high-achieving schools and documented that private school principals focused on staff working well together in both low- and high-achieving schools. As such, the emphasis private school principals placed on working well with others may not be a distinctive aspect of leadership. The ability for staff members to collaborate may enhance the quality of teaching within a school and consequently may result in higher student achievement (DuFour, Dufour, & Eaker, 2009).

In a more recent study, Brown (2016) examined the leadership supports provided by one experienced elementary principal in a high-performing school. Replicating these leadership supports in other schools could have a positive influence on student achievement. The principal-provided supports included (a) a knowledge-centered curriculum aligned to standards; (b) a learner-centered environment led by efforts for data-driven instruction; (c) an assessment-centered instruction based on the development of school-specific objectives; and (d) a community focused organization for all stakeholders.

The principal in Brown's (2016) study was acknowledged frequently by the staff for facilitating a spirit of collaboration among the school's stakeholders that resulted in building positive school culture. Another positive benefit included a willingness for teachers to put forth extra effort to raise student achievement. Additionally, teachers collaborated to plan professional development on a regular and consistent basis using data to develop a site improvement plan in alignment with the school's goals.

The effort put forth by the principal to use data-driven instruction resulted in building community among teachers (Brown, 2016). The teachers reported using data to answer questions about instruction (e.g., create reading and math instructional groupings) which led to enhanced student achievement. The emphasis on data collection, coupled with a structure for teachers to make data-driven decisions, was essential to the school's success in meeting student's needs. Similarly, Azaiez and Slate (2017) contended principals contribute to the success or failure of a campus by recruiting, training, and retaining highly effective teachers.

Teachers' behaviors and classroom performance may be influenced by school leaders who identify specific goals and objectives as essential for student achievement (DuFour et al., 2009). Hence, it would be beneficial for principals to know these leadership factors. Borg and Slate (2014) asserted that deciding which specific leadership factors will result in student success may be difficult to determine. Public school principals responded to a section in the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 1998-1999 and indicated the extent to which they emphasized specific leadership goals and objectives with their teachers. Borg and Slate analyzed the responses of principals in low-performing schools and principals of high-performing schools. Statistically significant, albeit trivial, differences resulted between high- and low-performing schools possibly because principals self-reported the amount of emphasis placed on the goals and objectives. If the teachers were rating the emphasis principals put on specific leadership goals and objectives, then the results might be more reflective of actual practices performed by the principals.

In another study in which the dataset, the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 2011, was used, Azaiez (2017) analyzed how public elementary school principals spent their work week as a function of years of experience. The dataset used in the Azaiez research was analyzed for this article. In his study, public school principals in Large-size elementary schools (i.e., student enrollments of 800 or more students) indicated a higher percentage of emphasis in all five of the training areas assessed than principals in Small-size (i.e., student enrollments of less than 400 students) and Moderate-size schools (i.e., student enrollment of 400 through 799 students). Specifically, principals in Large-size elementary schools spent a higher percentage of their time providing training and support to teachers in effective reading teaching strategies, effective mathematics teaching strategies, behavioral support, collecting and managing data, and interpreting and using data than principals in Small-size and Moderate-size schools. In other words, an increase in staff training was related with increased student enrollment on a campus. Azaiez asserted that principals in large-size schools have more staff which might account for the increase in time spent training teachers. Interestingly, all of the elementary school principals, regardless of student

enrollment, identified the highest emphasis in training staff in teaching effective reading strategies, in collecting and managing data, and in interpreting and using data.

Several other factors related to school size may affect the training and support provided to teachers in private schools. In education, economies of scale are a theory associated with reducing a school's administrative costs by creating larger schools. The principle of economies of scale may have an effect on opportunities for teacher training whereby principals of large-size private schools may have more funding available for professional development than principals of small-size private schools (Riha, Slate, & Martinez-Garcia, 2013).

Small-size schools of 50 or fewer students constituted the enrollment of most private schools in the United States in 2015 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017a); therefore, considering the factors that may affect the quality of education imparted to students based on enrollment size has merit. According to the data compiled in the Digest of Education Statistics (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017b), the average salary for full-time teachers in private schools was \$42,100 whereas the average salary for full-time teachers in public schools was \$55,120. Lower salary offerings to private school teachers may fail to attract the most qualified and inspired teachers to fill vacant positions and administrators may consequently hire non-certified or less qualified teachers to fill vacancies (Slate & Jones, 2005). In these instances, student needs would be met most effectively with teacher support and training. Azaiez (2017) determined that in Large-size public schools, a higher percentage of principals provided training for teachers than principals in Moderate-size or Small-size public schools. Therefore, school enrollment size may be a factor that results in principals hiring teachers with lower qualifications because of low salary offerings (Slate & Jones, 2005) and principals having less funding available to provide training.

Slate and Jones (2005) reviewed the literature on the effect that school size based on student enrollment had on teacher quality. Researchers (e.g., Jackson, 1966; Pethel, 1978) in several of the evaluated studies documented better performance of larger schools regarding teacher qualifications and working conditions. Specifically, teachers in larger schools were more highly qualified than teachers in smaller schools in which fewer teachers have master's degrees or specialized training. Also, teachers in some smaller schools did not receive planning periods.

In another examination of the literature on schools with small-size student enrollments, Jimerson (2006) reviewed the positive effects of low student enrollment on student learning and well-being. Teachers in schools with small-size enrollments had a positive attitude toward teaching, less absenteeism, increased collaboration with peers, and took more responsibility for student learning. Furthermore, teachers perceived professional development as more valuable for reasons such as being (a) focused on the specific needs of the community, (b) ongoing, and (c) peer-led. Slate and Jones (2005) confirmed similar findings related to increased teacher and student morale in schools with small-size student enrollments.

Statement of the Problem

Student enrollments in private schools have increased annually since 2011 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). In 2013-2014, over 5.4 million students were enrolled in private elementary and secondary schools. The number of private school enrollments increased in 2015-2016 to over 5.8 million students. A variety of reasons may exist for these increases. Parents may want their child to attend a school with a religious orientation, prefer a specific method of education, or possess a myriad of other reasons for seeking an alternative to public schooling.

The actions of inspiring and informed teachers in the classroom affect student achievement (Blase et al., 2010). Researchers (e.g., Azaiez & Slate, 2017; Combs et al., 2013; Hall et al., 2018) have confirmed the importance of teacher training on student success. In the United States, certification to teach in private schools is not required in all states (U.S. Department of Education, 2009) and in some states, including Texas, a course in civics is the only curriculum requirement. Therefore, ensuring that private school teachers are trained is imperative to safeguard student success.

School enrollment size is another factor that may affect student achievement in private schools. In 2015, of the 34,576 private schools, 87%, had an enrollment of fewer than 300 students; most private schools had less than 50 students enrolled (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017a). Private schools typically rely on tuition dollars to fund the school program. Therefore, schools with small-size enrollments often have less funding available for teacher salaries and professional development.

Scholars (e.g., Borg & Slate, 2014; Leithwood et al., 2008, Marzano, Waters, & McNulty, 2005) have discussed the critical role of principals on student achievement and school success. Furthermore, the school principal leads the campus to fulfill the school's vision (Blase et al., 2010). Therefore, because of expectations for students to receive a high-quality educational experience in a private school given the relative absence of regulation of private schools, the time private school principals spend ensuring teachers are trained effectively and are provided adequate support is essential to student

achievement and campus success. Nevertheless, an absence of research is present into the role of private school principals and how they train and support their teachers as a function of school size. Additionally, a lack of research exists about private school size and its relationship to student achievement and school success.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to determine the degree to which principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools differed in whether they reported training and supporting their teachers in specific areas. Focused on was the extent to which differences existed between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in providing training and support for their teachers in several areas. Specifically, the areas of effective reading teaching strategies, effective mathematics teaching strategies, behavioral support, collecting and managing data, and interpreting and using data were examined.

Significance of the Study

Researchers (e.g., Blase et al., 2010; Borg & Slate, 2014; Marzano et al., 2005) have analyzed the role of public school principals; yet, very few researchers have focused on private school principals. Therefore, a void is present in the literature in how private school principals train and support teachers. From the results of this empirical national investigation, information concerning the training and support provided to teachers in private elementary schools were revealed. Furthermore, private school principals and administrators of professional development programs for principals may acquire information to enhance their training instruction. Administrators may use the results of these analyses to gain insight into leadership differences that may exist between principals of small-size private elementary schools and principals of large-size private elementary schools. Furthermore, principals and stakeholders may recognize the need within their schools to ensure teachers are provided adequate resources to train and support teachers. Consequently, the quality of teaching and learning in private schools may be improved through more effective administrative support.

Research Questions

In this empirical investigation, the following research questions were addressed: (a) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in how they support and train their teachers in effective reading teaching strategies?; (b) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in how they support and train their teachers in effective mathematics teaching strategies?; (c) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in how they support and train their teachers in providing behavioral support for students?; (d) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in how they support and train their teachers in collecting and managing data?; and (c) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Small-size private elementary school

Method

Research Design

In this empirical investigation, a non-experimental, causal-comparative research design was employed (Creswell, 2014; Johnson & Christensen, 2014). A national archival dataset was analyzed to determine the degree to which differences existed between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in how they trained and supported their teachers in specific areas. Both the independent variable and the dependent variables had already occurred therefore, extraneous variables could not be controlled in this investigation (Johnson & Christensen, 2014).

The independent variable in this investigation was private school principals categorized into two groups: (a) principals of Small-size private elementary schools and (b) principals of Large-size private elementary schools. School size groupings were based on student enrollment. Small-size private schools were schools with fewer than 250 students; Large-size schools were schools with 250 and more students. The dependent variables were five survey items in which principals were asked to respond to the training and support provided to teachers in (a) effective reading teaching strategies, (b) effective mathematics teaching strategies, (c) behavioral support for students, (d) collecting and managing data, and (e) interpreting and using data.

Participants and Instrumentation

The unit of analysis in this study was comprised of private school administrators from campuses within the United States. Principals, head of schools, and other administrators voluntarily responded to a questionnaire as part of the survey in the Early

44

Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class 2011 (ECLS-K: 2011). The ECLS-K: 2011 is an ongoing longitudinal study which follows a diverse group of students in both public and private schools. The ECLS-K: 2011 self-administered questionnaires were intended to collect information on a wide range of factors that affect children's school performance over time (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017c). Therefore, information was collected from parents, teachers, caregivers, and schools to provide a comprehensive picture of the children's experiences and development (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017c).

The school administrator questionnaire was divided into eight sections. The first six sections contained questions related to factual information about the school and the programs offered. In the seventh section, questions were asked about staffing and teacher characteristics and in the eighth section, questions about administrator characteristics were asked. One important question in the seventh section was: Does your school currently have any staff members who do the following as their primary role or one of their primary roles? Administrators were to mark either Yes or No if teachers received training or support in (a) the delivery of effective reading teaching strategies; (b) the delivery of effective mathematics teaching strategies; (c) the delivery of effective behavioral supports for students; (d) collecting, organizing and managing assessment data; and (e) the interpretation and use of assessment data to guide instruction.

Archival data from the Spring 2012 School Administrators Questionnaire were obtained from the ECLS-K: 2011 database, and then imported into the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software program. Administrator responses to the questions concerning providing support and training for their teachers were used for this study. After the ECLS-K: 2011 data file was converted into a SPSS data file, labels were given to relevant variables used in this investigation. Because data were reported to the National Center for Education Statistics directly from participating schools, minimal errors in the data were assumed to be present. For technical information regarding score reliability and validity of the ECLS-K: 2011 testing instruments, readers are directed to the National Center for Education Statistics website.

Results

To ascertain whether differences were present in how private elementary school principals trained and supported their teachers in (a) the delivery of effective reading teaching strategies; (b) the delivery of effective mathematics teaching strategies; (c) the delivery of effective behavioral support for students; (d) collecting, organizing and managing assessment data; and (e) the interpretation and use of assessment data to guide instruction based on school-size status (i.e., Small-size schools, Large-size schools), Pearson chi-square analyses were conducted. This statistical procedure was viewed as the optimal statistical procedure to use because frequency data were present for areas of training and support for teachers and for both private school principal groups (Slate & Rojas-LeBouef, 2011). As such, chi-squares are the statistical procedure of choice when both variables are categorical (i.e., training and support for teachers, school-size status). In addition, with the large sample size, the available sample size per cell was more than five. Therefore, the assumptions for using a chi-square were met. Because the same statistical procedure was used five times in this study, the Bonferroni method of adjustment (Vogt, 2005) was used to correct for experiment-wise error. The conventional level of statistical significance (i.e., .05) was divided by 5 to yield an adjusted level of .01 that had to be reached for a result to be viewed as being statistically significant.

With respect to the first research question, a statistically significant difference was revealed between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in their training and support for the delivery of effective reading teaching strategies, $\chi^2(1) = 13.50$, p < .001. The effect size for this finding, Cramer's V, was .13, a below small effect size (Cohen, 1988). As revealed in Table 2.1, a statistically significantly higher percentage, 28.40%, of Large-size private elementary school principals reported that they provided training and support to teachers in effective reading teaching strategies than was reported by Small-size private elementary school principals, 17.30%. Of note to readers is that 82.70% of the Small-size private elementary school principals and 71.60% of the Large-size private elementary school principals and 71.60% of the Large-size private elementary school principals and support to their teachers.

Insert Table 2.1 about here

In regard to the second research question, a statistically significant difference was not yielded, $\chi^2(1) = 3.99$, p = .046, between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in their training and support for the delivery of effective mathematics teaching strategies. Though this difference was lower than the conventional level of .05, readers should note that the Bonferroni method of adjustment (Vogt, 2005) was used, resulting in an adjusted level of statistical significance of .01. As revealed in Table 2.2, similar percentages, approximately 20.00%, of Large-size and of Small-size private school elementary principals reported that they provided training and support to teachers in effective mathematics strategies. Of importance to readers is that 77.90% of Largesize and 83.60% of Small-size private elementary school principals responded that they did not provide their teachers with this training and support.

Insert Table 2.2 about here

Concerning the third research question, a statistically significant difference was not present between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in their training and support in providing behavioral support strategies, $\chi^2(1) = 1.83$, p = .18. Revealed in Table 2.3 are similar percentages of Large-size and Small-size private elementary school principals who reported that they provided training and support to teachers in behavioral support strategies. Of note to readers is that a high percentage, 71.80% of Large-size and of 76.10% of Small-size private elementary school principals responded that they did not provide their teachers with this training and support.

Insert Table 2.3 about here

With respect to the fourth research question, a statistically significant difference was revealed between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in their training and support in collecting and managing data, $\chi^2(1) = 14.57$, p < .001. The effect size for this finding, Cramer's V, was .14, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988). As revealed in Table 2.4, a statistically significantly higher percentage, 37.10%, of Largesize private elementary school principals reported that they provided training and support to teachers in collecting and managing data than was reported by Small-size private elementary school principals, 24.30%. Of importance for readers is that 75.70% of the Small-size private elementary school principals and 62.90% of the Large-size private elementary school principals indicated that they did not provide this training and support to their teachers.

Insert Table 2.4 about here

Regarding the fifth research question, a statistically significant difference was present between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in providing training and support in interpreting and using data, $\chi^2(1) = 25.50$, p < .001. The effect size for this finding, Cramer's V, was .18, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988). The descriptive statistics for this research question are delineated in Table 2.5. More than 25.00% of the principals of Small-size private elementary schools and over 43.00% of the principals of Large-size private elementary schools indicated they provide training and support to teachers in interpreting and using data. Readers should note that three 73.70% of the Small-size private elementary school principals and 56.30% of the Large-size private elementary school principals and 56.30% of the Large-size private elementary school principals and support to their teachers.

Insert Table 2.5 about here

Discussion

In this empirical investigation, responses from private elementary school principals regarding whether or not they provided training and support for teachers on their campus in specific areas were examined as a function of school size based on student enrollment. Analyses were conducted on principals' responses obtained from the National Center for Education Statistics, a national dataset. Inferential statistical procedures revealed differences were present in how private elementary school principals reported training and supporting their teachers as a function of school size wherein principals of Large-size private elementary schools provided more training and support for teachers than principals of Small-size private elementary schools.

Statistically significant differences revealed in the findings were that principals of Large-size private elementary schools provided more training and support to teachers in three of five areas than did principals of Small-size private elementary schools. Principals in Large-size private elementary schools provided over 50.00% more training and support in effective reading teaching strategies, in collecting and managing data, and in interpreting and using data for their teachers than principals in Small-size private elementary schools.

Connection with Existing Literature

Extensive literature can be located on leadership behaviors of principals in public schools and student achievement (Blase et al., 2010; Donaldson, 2013; Hall et al., 2018; Zepeda, 2015). Researchers (Azaiez & Slate, 2017; Brown, 2016; Loeb et al., 2012) have revealed that professional development enhances teaching and learning by improving instructional skills and principals have a great deal of influence in this regard through their efforts as instructional leaders (Béteille et al., 2009; Grissom & Loeb, 2011; Horng & Loeb, 2010). Be that as it may, an absence of studies is present related to training and support for teachers by private elementary school principals as a function of school size based on student enrollment on their campuses.

Revealed in this investigation were the areas of emphasis private elementary school principals trained and supported their teachers based on student enrollment size. Principals of Large-size private elementary schools reported providing more training and support to teachers than principals of Small-size private elementary schools. Statistically significant differences were revealed between principals of Large-size private elementary schools and principals of Small-size private elementary schools in the focus on training staff in effective reading teaching strategies, in collecting and managing data, and in interpreting and using data. In this study approximately 75.00% of Small-size private elementary school principals reported they did not train or support their staff in all five areas. On the other hand, Large-size private elementary school principals reported providing training and support in all five areas.

Implications for Policy and for Practice

Based on the results of this study, several implications can be made for policy and practice. The lack of regulation in private schools may result in less than an optimal education for students, therefore implementing required policies to improve the skills and competencies of private school teachers may improve student outcomes in private schools. Concerning policy, the following three suggestions can be made. First, private schools should be required to adhere to minimum standards of quality through membership in an accreditation agency. Second, teachers in private schools should be obliged to obtain training in best practices in education. Third, policymakers should enforce private school teachers attain certification to teach.

Regarding professional practice, the following implications can be made. First, private school principals should invest time and effort toward teacher training to improve teachers' skill and competence. Researchers (e.g., Blase et al., 2010; Hall et al., 2018) support practices initiated by the school principal which help guide teachers' instructional practices to serve student needs best. Second, private school principals should examine current practices and remove barriers that may impede providing training and support to teachers. Time constraints, limited funding, and relevancy of topics should be considered to improve training and support for teachers (Donaldson, 2013). Third, private school principals may enhance collaboration among teachers by providing training in data collection and affording opportunities for teachers to make data-driven decisions to improve student achievement. Professional development is crucial to ensure teachers are well-prepared to implement instructional strategies that support learning (Béteille et al., 2009).

Documented in this investigation was the presence of a statistically significant relationship between student enrollment size and the emphasis private elementary school principals placed on training and support in several areas. Consequently, several implications are present regarding school enrollment size and training and support for teachers. Principals of Large-size private elementary schools emphasized providing training and support to teachers more than principals of Small-size private elementary schools specifically in three of five areas including in effective reading teaching strategies, in collecting and managing data, and in interpreting and using data. Therefore, principals of Small-size private schools should ensure teachers receive training and support that will help them serve their community of learners more effectively. Furthermore, principals of Small-size private schools should seek information about the importance of instructional leadership and the value of developing programs to improve the quality of teacher effectiveness on student achievement.

Recommendations for Future Research

Several recommendations for future research can be made based upon the results of this empirical analyses. First, analyzing several years of data, instead of only one year of data, could assist researchers in determining the extent to which trends might be present in areas of emphasis provided by private school principals for teacher training and support based on school size. Second, benefits may be obtained from including private middle school and private high school principals in the scope of these investigations. Analyzing the ways private school principals train and support teachers at the middle and high school level could provide recommendations for establishing standards to improve the quality of instruction executed in private schools. Third, an evaluation of providing training and support to private school teachers as a function of student achievement could provide relevant data concerning student performance. This information could be utilized to inform training and support strategies in private schools.

Conclusion

A national dataset was acquired from the National Center for Education Statistics for this empirical investigation. Specifically obtained were the areas of training and support for teachers and student enrollment number. Generated were two school categories: Large-size schools and Small-size schools. The reported training and support

provided to teachers in specific areas were analyzed by student enrollment number. Statistically significant differences were revealed in three areas. Specifically, principals in Large-size private elementary schools provided statistically significantly more training and support to teachers in effective reading teaching strategies, in collecting and managing data, and in interpreting and using data than principals in Small-size private elementary schools. A higher percentage of principals in Large-size private elementary school emphasized training and support for teachers in all areas than did principals in Small-size private elementary school. Be that as it may, a high percentage of private elementary school principals in both Large-size and Small-size schools did not provide teachers with training and support in effective reading teaching strategies, in effective mathematics teaching strategies, in behavioral support for students, in collecting and managing data, or in interpreting and using data. Principals play a critical role in student achievement and school success (Borg & Slate, 2014; Leithwood et al., 2008; Marzano et al., 2005). Therefore, private school principals should provide training and support to ensure teachers are qualified to safeguard student success.

References

Azaiez, H. (2017). Differences in student achievement and principal behavior as a function of years of principal experience: A national investigation. Doctor of Education (Educational Leadership), December 2017, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, TX.

Azaiez, H., & Slate, J. R. (2017). Student achievement as a function of principal longevity. *Journal of Advances in Education Research*, *2*, 157-162. doi:10.22606/jaer.2017.23003

Béteille, T., Kalogrides, D., & Loeb, S. (2009). Effective schools: Managing the recruitment, development, and retention of high-quality teachers. *National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research (CALDER), Working Paper, 37*. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute. doi:10.1037/e722022011-001

- Blase, J., Blase, J., & Phillips, D. Y. (2010). Handbook of school improvement: How high-performing principals create high-performing schools. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press. doi:10.4135/9781483350349
- Borg, D., & Slate, J. R. (2014). Principals' leadership emphasis as a function of school performance. *Frontiers in Education, 2,* 1-5.
- Brown, G. (2016). Leadership's influence: A case study of an elementary principal's indirect impact on student achievement. *Education*, *137*, 101-115.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Combs, J. P., Edmonson, S., & Harris, S. (2013). *The trust factor: Strategies for school leaders*. New York, NY: Routledge. doi:10.4324/9781315853390

- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.7748/nr.12.1.82.s2
- Donaldson, M. L. (2013). Principals' approaches to cultivating teacher effectiveness:
 Constraints and opportunities in hiring, assigning, evaluating, and developing teachers. *Educational Administration Quarterly, 49*, 838-882.
 doi:10.1177/0013161X13485961
- DuFour, R., DuFour, R., & Eaker, R. (2009). Revisiting professional learning communities at work: New insights for improving schools. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.

Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015, P.L. 114-95 § 114 Stat. 1177 (2015).

- Grissom, J. A., & Loeb, S. (2011). Triangulating principal effectiveness: How perspectives of parents, teachers, and assistant principals identify the central importance of managerial skills. *American Educational Research Journal, 48*, 1091-1123. doi:10.3102/0002831211402663
- Hall, G. E., Quinn, I. F., & Gollnick, D. M. (Eds.) (2018). *The Wiley handbook of teaching and learning*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons. doi:10.1002/9781118955901
- Hargreaves, A., & Fullan, M. (2013). Professional capital: Transforming teaching in every school. New York, NY: Teachers College Press. doi:10.1080/15582159.2012.733288
- Horng, E., & Loeb, S. (2010). New thinking about instructional leadership. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92, 66-69. doi:10.1177/003172171009200319

- Jackson, J. L. (1966). School size and program quality in southern high schools. Nashville, TN: Center for Southern Education Studies, George Peabody College for Teachers.
- Jimerson, L. (2006). *The Hobbit effect: Why small works in public schools*. Rural Trust Policy Brief Series on Rural Education. Arlington, VA: The Rural School and Community Trust. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED497985.pdf
- Johnson, R. B., & Christensen, L. (2014). *Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Leithwood, K. S., Day, C., Sammons, P., Harris, A., & Hopkins, D. (2008). Seven strong claims about successful school leadership. *School Leadership & Management, 28,* 27-42. doi:10.1080/13632430701800060
- Loeb, S., Kalogrides, D., & Béteille, T. (2012). Effective schools: Teacher hiring, assignment, development, and retention. *Education Finance and Policy*, *7*, 269-304. doi.org/10.1162/edfp_a_00068
- Marzano, R. J., Waters, T., & McNulty, B. S. (2005) School leadership that works: From research to results. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. doi:10.1108/09578230710747857
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017a). *Characteristics of private schools in the United States: Results from the 2015-2016 Private School Universe Survey.* Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017073.pdf
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017b). *Digest of education statistics*. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d17/tables/dt17_211.10.asp

National Center for Education Statistics. (2017c). *Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten class of 2010-2011*. Retrieved from http://www.nces.ed.gov/ecls

National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). *The condition of education: Private school enrollment*. Retrieved from

https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_cgc.asp

No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, P.L. 107-110, 20 U.S.C. § 6319 (2002).

- Pethel, G. E. (1978). An investigation of the relationship of school size and program quality in the public high schools of Georgia. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Georgia, Athens.
- Ravitch, D. (2014). *Reign of error*. New York, NY: Vintage Books. doi:10.5860/choice.51-5720
- Riha, M. W., Slate, J. R., & Martinez-Garcia, C. (2013). What we know about middle school size and student performance: A review of the literature. *Journal of Education Research*, 7, 205-229.
- Slate, J. R., & Jones, C. H. (2005). Effects of school size: Review of the literature with recommendations. *Essays in Education*, 13. Retrieved from http://edresearch.yolasite.com/resources/slate.pdf
- Slate, J. R., & Rojas-LeBouef, A. (2011). Calculating basic statistical procedures in SPSS: A self-help and practical guide to preparing theses, dissertations, and manuscripts. Ypsilanti, MI: NCPEA Press.
- Smith, J. A., & Slate, J. R. (2014). Private school principals of high and low achieving schools and student achievement and teacher collaboration. *Journal of Education Research*, 8, 197-202.

- U.S. Department of Education. (2004). *No Child Left Behind: A toolkit for teachers*. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/teachers/nclbguide/nclb-teachers-toolkit.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education. (2009). *State regulation of private schools*. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/admins/comm/choice/regprivschl/regprivschl.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education. (2015). *Every Student Succeeds Act*. Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn
- Vogt, W. P. (2005). Dictionary of statistics and methodology: A nontechnical guide for the social sciences (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zepeda, S. J. (2015). Job-embedded professional development: Support, collaboration, and learning in schools. New York, NY: Routledge. doi:10.4324/9781315719693

Table 2.1

Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Effective Reading

Strategies	by	School	Size	Status

School Size Status	Did Not Train Staff	Did Train Staff
Small-size	(n = 343) 82.70%	(<i>n</i> = 72) 17.30%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 260) 71.60%	(<i>n</i> = 103) 28.40%
Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Effective Mathematics

School Size Status	Did Not Train Staff	Did Train Staff
Small-size	(n = 346) 83.60%	(<i>n</i> = 68) 16.40%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 271) 77.90%	(<i>n</i> = 77) 22.10%

Strategies by School Size Status

Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Behavioral Support

School Size Status	Did Not Train Staff	Did Train Staff
Small-size	(<i>n</i> = 316) 76.10%	(<i>n</i> = 99) 23.90%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 250) 71.80%	(<i>n</i> = 98) 28.20%

Strategies by School Size Status

Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Collecting and

School Size Status	Did Not Train Staff	Did Train Staff
Small-size	(n = 314) 75.70%	(<i>n</i> = 101) 24.30%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 219) 62.90%	(<i>n</i> = 129) 37.10%

Managing Data by School Size Status

Frequencies and Percentages of Training Provided in Interpreting and

School Size Status	Did Not Train Staff	Did Train Staff
Small-size	(<i>n</i> = 306) 73.70%	(<i>n</i> = 109) 26.30%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 196) 56.30%	(<i>n</i> = 152) 43.70%

Using Data by School Size Status

CHAPTER III

DIFFERENCES IN HOW PRINCIPALS OF SMALL-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AND PRINCIPALS OF LARGE-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS SPEND THEIR WORK WEEK

This dissertation follows the style and format of Research in the Schools (RITS).

Abstract

In this investigation, the degree to which differences were present between private elementary school principals at Small-size schools (i.e., less than 250 students) and private elementary school principals at Large-size schools (i.e., 250 or more students) in how they spent their time during the work week, both for the total number of hours spent weekly in each activity and also with respect to the percentage of the total numbers of hours worked weekly, was addressed. Data were acquired from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 Principal Survey. Statistically significant differences were revealed in four of the ways private elementary school principals reported in how they spent their time during the work week. Principals of Large-size schools emphasized statistically significant more time in working with teachers on instructional issues and in meeting with parents than principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools spent statistically significant more time in monitoring school areas and in teaching than principals of Large-size schools. Suggestions for future research and implications for policy and practice were made.

Keywords: ECLS-K, Student enrollment, Small-size schools, Large-size schools, Principal Emphases, Time Management.

DIFFERENCES IN HOW PRINCIPALS OF SMALL-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AND PRINCIPALS OF LARGE-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS SPEND THEIR WORK WEEK

Every student is entitled to receive a high-quality educational experience to obtain the skills to be successful in life (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). Every school, whether public, charter, or private, should ensure practices are implemented to achieve this aim (DuFour, DuFour, & Eaker, 2009; Ravitch, 2014). Local and federal policy demands have placed greater accountability on public schools to raise student achievement (No Child Left Behind, 2002) and in recent years, these demands have increased (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). As a result, teachers in the public sector may experience stress which in turn may negatively affect the educational experience of students (von der Embse, Sandilos, Pendergast, & Mankin, 2016). Accordingly, some parents have resolved to seek choices in education for their child(ren) that may include private schools and charter schools. Although charter schools are often required to adhere to some level of government accountability, accountability in private schools varies by state and certification to teach is not required in all states (U.S. Department of Education, 2009). Consequently, the question may be asked whether these school choices provide a better alternative to public schools. How are parents ensured that their child(ren) receive(s) a high-quality educational experience?

Student achievement outcomes have been attributed to the work of the school leader. Leaders provide impetus for others to pursue the objectives of the organization, and the tasks that leaders perform are integral to guiding the organization's members in accomplishing goals (Northouse, 2013). Because an essential aim of an educational institution is to increase student achievement, principals are entrusted to ensure that the school's structure and the teachers, staff, and other school stakeholders are equipped to accomplish this purpose (DeVita et al., 2007).

In their attempt to bolster student success, elementary school principals execute a variety of functions. Job duties include performing administrative tasks such as interviewing teachers, filing reports, collecting data; serving as instructional leaders whereby encouraging teachers to try new and innovative teaching methods; meeting with students to coach or redirect behavior; conferencing with parents to discuss concerns; and teaching in the classroom. Over the last few decades, the principal's role has changed from operational manager to instructional leader (Leithwood & Louis, 2012). Furthermore, researchers (e.g., Blase, Blase, & Phillips, 2010; Leithwood & Louis, 2012; Marzano, Waters, & McNulty, 2005) have asserted that principals influence student achievement through instructional leadership. Instructional leadership may be defined as activities leaders engage in which support classroom teaching and student learning (Murphy, 1988).

Blase et al. (2010) contended that high-performing principals systematically organize administrative and instructional tasks with structures to support school improvement. The systems-development approach requires principals to use their time wisely and productively to provide support for teachers. Principals in the Blase et al. study reported that delegating administrative functions to other staff allowed them to stay focused on instructional work with teachers.

The day-to-day life of a school principal is ever changing. Camburn, Spillane, and Sebastian (2010) examined principals' use of a daily log for measuring leadership practice. The daily log instrument was created to evaluate an executive leadership development program for principals; 48 principals in a midsized urban school district participated in the study. The log contained a list of the leadership actions that principals' practice to influence people, processes, and organizational structures including (a) building operations, (b) finances, (c) student affairs, (d) personnel issues, (e) instructional leadership, and (f) professional growth. Principals reported spending about 23% of their time on student affairs and 19% of their time on instructional leadership. Personnel issues consumed about 14% of their time. Principals devoted less than 10% of their time on each of the remaining three leadership domains: building operations, finances, and professional growth. Camburn et al. concluded that the principals in their study devoted the bulk of their time to student affairs and instructional leadership. Because student achievement is attributable to the principal's instructional leadership practices (Blase et al., 2010), this information may be useful to practitioners to reflect on the effectiveness of their daily practices.

In a study on the relationship between principal's time allocation and work effectiveness, Smith (2013) analyzed data from the High School Longitudinal Survey of 2009 (HLS: 09) and focused on the effect of geographic location on each principal's time allocation. The National Center for Education Statistics administered the HLS: 09 as a national survey intended to provide an overview of the experience of U.S. high school students. Smith concluded that changes in neighborhood and community circumstances influenced the work activities of principals. In these instances, flexibility in adjusting work activities maintained or increased overall school effectiveness. According to Smith (2013), principal work patterns are often interrupted and fragmented. Unfamiliar situations due to changing demographics could further challenge the principal's work day. Smith examined the weekly time allocation principals reported in hours per week spent (a) on working with teachers on instructional issues, (b) on internal school management, (c) on external school management, (d) on monitoring hallways/campus/lunchroom, (e) on their own teaching assignments, (f) on talking and meeting with parents, and (g) on meeting with students. The time allocated to the principals' teaching assignments yielded the highest mean score with 10 hours per week dedicated to this activity. Internal school management accounted for the second highest weekly time of about seven hours per week. Principals indicated spending about 3 hours per week on the remaining activities.

The time allocation reported by principals were different based on the community setting in which the principal worked (Smith, 2013). For example, principals from city and town settings cited spending more time on working with teachers on instructional issues than did principals from suburban and rural setting. In contrast principals in rural and city settings spent more time on internal school management than did principals in suburban and town settings. Smith concluded that practice is affected by context and place and the school setting can influence how principals spend their time during the work week.

In a recent study, Azaiez (2017) used the same dataset analyzed in this study, the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 (ECLS-K: 2011). He examined the number of hours principals reported spending each week on working with teachers on instructional issues, internal school management, student discipline/attendance, monitoring hallways, teaching, talking and meeting with parents, meeting with students, and required paperwork as a function of years of experience. Azaiez identified categories of administrative experience based on the years of experience indicated on the questionnaire by the principals. New principals reported having 1-3 years of administrative experience, Moderately Experienced principals had 4-6 years of experience, and Experienced principals were administrators with more than six years of experience.

Experienced principals in the Azaiez (2017) study reported spending more hours on working with teachers on instructional issues and on required paperwork, yet fewer hours working on school management, discipline and attendance, monitoring areas, meetings with parents, and meeting with students than the New principals and Moderately Experienced principals. Azaiez theorized that Experienced principals might have more refined routines and systems in place on their campuses than New principals or Moderately Experienced principals. As a result, Experienced principals could devote more time working with teachers.

In another study, analyzing the same dataset as used previously, Azaiez (2017) further examined the number of hours principals spent each week on specific activities as a function of school size determined by student enrollment. The specific activities again, included the number of hours spent each week on working with teachers on instructional issues, internal school management, student discipline/attendance, monitoring hallways, teaching, meeting and talking with parents, meeting with students, and required paperwork. School size based on school enrollment were: Small-size schools with less than 400 students, Moderate-size schools with 400-799 students, and Large-size schools

with 799 or more students. Azaiez determined that principals in Large-size schools spent more time on working with teachers on instructional issues, on school management, on discipline and attendance, in talking and meeting with parents, in meeting with students, and on required paperwork than principals of Small-size schools and principals of Moderate-size schools. Furthermore, principals in schools with increasingly larger numbers of student enrollment spent more time on each of these tasks.

Because the time principals report working each week varied based on student enrollment, Azaiez (2017) converted the work hours into a percentage of the total week. As such, principals of Large-size schools devoted a higher percentage of their day on working with teachers on instructional issues and on required paperwork than principals in Small-size schools or Moderate-size schools. On the other hand, principals of Largesize schools spent a smaller percentage of the day working on discipline and attendance and monitoring school areas than principals of Small-size schools and Moderate-size schools. Though closely related to the current study, Azaiez focused on public school principals. As such, the degree to which the results reported by Azaiez are generalizable to private school principals is not known.

Statement of the Problem

Time management has a direct bearing on a principal's ability to influence student achievement (DeVita et al., 2007). According to DeVita et al. (2007) principals can act to become better instructional leaders through an awareness of how they spend their time and then handing over management tasks to trusted vital staff members. In recent studies (Azaiez, 2017; Camburn et al., 2013; Smith, 2013) on this topic, the focus has been on public school principals, and little is known of the extent to which leadership practices affect student achievement in private schools. Because the impetus to expand school choice reform as a means to enhance student learning likely will increase student enrollment in private schools, researchers should embark on additional studies into the time management of principals in private schools. The results of this research investigation may help inform and improve the practices of private school principals and augment student success.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to analyze the degree to which principals of Smallsize private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools differed in how they spent their time during the work week both for the total number of hours spent weekly in each activity and also with respect to the percentage of the total numbers of hours worked weekly that was spent in each specific activity. Particularly, the number of hours and the percentage of the work week principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools spent on average per week working with teachers on instructional issues, on internal school management, on student discipline and attendance, on monitoring school areas, teaching, in talking and meeting with parents, in talking and meeting with students, and on required paperwork based in Small-size and Large-size schools were addressed.

Significance of the Study

A considerable body of research (e.g., Blase et al., 2010; Leithwood & Louis, 2012; Marzano et al., 2005) exists on the importance of effective school leadership. Evidence is also available regarding the magnitude of instructional leadership to improve student outcomes (Marzano et al., 2005). Few researchers, if any, have concentrated their efforts exclusively on how private elementary school principals in Small-size and in Large-size schools spend their time each week on specific tasks. The information obtained from this research will fill a void in the existing research as well as offer insight into the differences that exists between private elementary school principals in Small-size schools and in Large-size schools in how they spend their time each week. This information may have practical application for private school administrators to improve student achievement and overall school effectiveness by identifying areas that elementary school principals, in Small-size schools and in Large-size private schools, might adjust in how they spend their time each week. Administrators and other stakeholders may achieve greater clarity in understanding the demands placed on private elementary school principals to accomplish multiple goals.

Research Questions

In this empirical investigation, the following research questions were addressed: (a) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in time spent each week working with teachers on instructional issues?; (b) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in time spent each week on school management?; (c) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in time spent each week on discipline and attendance?; (d) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in time spent each week monitoring school areas?; (e) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in time spent each week teaching?; (f) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in time spent each week in meeting with parents?; (g) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in time spent each week in meeting with students?; and (h) What is the difference between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools in time spent each week on required paperwork? These research questions were addressed both for the total number of hours spent weekly in each activity but also with respect to the percentage of the total numbers of hours worked weekly that was spent in each specific activity.

Method

Research Design

A non-experimental, causal-comparative research design (Creswell, 2014; Johnson & Christensen, 2014) was used in this study. The national archival data analyzed were previously obtained from the National Center for Education Statistics. As such, both the independent variable and dependent variables had occurred previously, and neither could be manipulated (Johnson & Christensen, 2014). The data included how principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools spent their time during the work week. Private elementary schools are learning institutions not supported primarily by public funds, that provide classroom instruction for one or more of grades K-12 or comparable ungraded levels and have one or more teachers. In this investigation, Small-size private elementary schools were schools with fewer than 250 students and Large-size private elementary schools were schools with 250 or more students. The independent variable of private school principal consisted of two groups of principals: (a) principals of Small-size private elementary schools and (b) principals of Large-size private elementary schools. The dependent variable for this investigation was comprised of eight survey items in which principals were asked to respond to how they spent their time during the work week in (a) working with teachers on instructional issues, (b) internal school management, (c) student discipline and attendance, (d) monitoring school areas, (e) teaching, (f) talking and meeting with parents, (g) meeting with students and (h) required paperwork.

Participants and Instrumentation

A diverse group of students in both public and private elementary schools were followed through the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 (ECLS-K: 2011). Parents, teachers, caregivers and school personnel voluntarily replied to the ECLS-K: 2011 self-administered questionnaires in which information on a wide range of factors that affect school performance over time were collected (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017). This process was intended to provide a comprehensive picture of students' experiences and development (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017). Students who participated in the study attended both full-day and part-day programs upon entry into the Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017).

The school administrator questionnaire was comprised of eight sections. Information about the school and the programs offered were included in the first six sections. Principals responded to questions about staffing and teacher characteristics in the seventh section. In the eighth section, principals answered questions about school administrator characteristics. The item in the eighth section specifically related to this study was: Please estimate how many hours you spend on average per week in the following activities. Administrators wrote in the number of hours spent each week in: (a) working with teachers on instructional issues; (b) internal school management (weekly calendars, vendors, office, memos, etc.); (c) student discipline/attendance; (d) monitoring hallways, playground, lunchroom; (e) teaching; (f) talking and meeting with parents; (g) meeting with students; and (h) paperwork required by local, state, or federal authorities.

Results

To ascertain whether differences were present in how private elementary school principals spent their time during the work week in (a) working with teachers on instructional issues; (b) internal school management (weekly calendars, vendors, office, memos, etc.); (c) student discipline/attendance; (d) monitoring hallways, playground, lunchroom; (e) teaching; (f) talking and meeting with parents; (g) meeting with students; and (h) paperwork required by local, state, or federal authorities based on school-size status (i.e., Small-size schools, Large-size schools), a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) statistical analysis was conducted. However, prior to conducting this statistical procedure its underlying assumptions were checked. Although the majority of these assumptions were not met, the robustness of a MANOVA procedure made it appropriate to use the data in this study (Field, 2013).

The MANOVA revealed a statistically significant difference, Wilks' $\Lambda = .85$, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .15$, in the number of hours spent per week by private elementary school principals on different activities as a function of school size (i.e., Small-size, Large-size).

Using Cohen's (1988) criteria, the effect size was large. Univariate follow-up analysis of variance procedures revealed statistically significant differences between private elementary school principals in Large-size schools and in Small-size schools in six of eight areas. Specifically, differences were revealed in the number of hours spent per week working with teachers on instructional issues, F(1, 743) = 29.17, p < .001, partial η^2 = .038, a small effect size; in the number of hours spent per week on working on school discipline and attendance, F(1, 743) = 6.78, p = .009, partial $\eta^2 = .001$, a below small effect size; in the number of hours spent per week on monitoring hallways, playgrounds and lunchrooms, F(1, 743) = 3.84, p = .05, partial $\eta^2 = .005$, a below small effect size; in the number of hours spent per week on teaching, F(1, 743) = 54.62, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .001$ 068, a moderate effect size; in the number of hours spent per week talking and meeting with parents, F(1, 743) = 34.32, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .044$, a small effect size; and in the number of hours spent per week on meeting with students, F(1, 743) = 7.21, p = .007, partial $\eta^2 = .001$, a below small effect size. Statistically significant differences were not yielded between private elementary school principals in Large-size and in Small-size schools in the time spent each week on two areas of activities: in the number of hours spent per week working on internal school management, F(1, 743) = 1.07, p = .30; and in the number of hours spent each week on paperwork required by local, state, or federal authorities, F(1, 743) = .911, p = .34. Tables 3.1 and 3.2 contain the descriptive statistics for the number of hours private elementary school principals spent per week on different activities by school-size status.

Insert Tables 3.1 and 3.2 about here

With respect to working with teachers on instructional issues, private elementary school principals of Large-size schools spent statistically significantly more time on this activity than private elementary school principals in Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools reported spending an average of 8.42 hours per week on this task compared to an average of 6.58 hours per week spent on this task by principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools.

In regard to working on discipline and attendance, private elementary school principals of Large-size schools spent statistically significantly more time on this activity than principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools reported spending an average of 3.92 hours per week on this task compared to an average of 3.34 hours per week spent on this task by principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools of Large-size schools principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools of Large-size schools principals of Small-size schools.

Concerning monitoring school areas, private elementary school principals of Small-size schools spent statistically significantly more time on this activity than principals of Large-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools reported spending an average of 4.50 hours per week on this task compared to an average of 3.87 hours per week spent on this task by principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools spent an average of 0.63 more hours per week on this activity than did principals of Large-size schools.

With respect to working on hours spent teaching, private elementary school principals of Small-size schools spent statistically significantly more time on this activity than principals of Large-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools reported spending an average of 5.91 hours per week on this task compared to an average of 2.20 hours per week spent on this task by principals of Large-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools of Small-size schools principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools of Small-size schools per week spent on this task by principals of Large-size schools. Principals of Small-size schools per week on this activity than was spent by principals of Large-size schools.

In regard to meeting with parents, private elementary school principals of Largesize schools spent statistically significantly more time on this activity than principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools reported spending an average of 7.49 hours per week on this task compared to an average of 5.44 hours per week spent on this task by principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools spent, on average, 2.05 more hours per week on this activity than did principals of Small-size schools.

Concerning meeting with students, private elementary school principals of Largesize schools spent statistically significantly more time on this activity than principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools reported spending an average of 4.39 hours per week on this task compared to an average of 3.34 hours per week spent on this task by principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools spent, on average, 1.05 more hours per week on this activity than was spent by principals of Smallsize schools. Statistically significant differences were not yielded in this investigation in the number of hours per week spent on school management or in the number of hours per week spent on required paperwork. Principals in Large-size schools and in Small-size schools spent an average of 12.89 hours per week on school management. These principals spent an average of 5.06 hours per week on required paperwork.

Following the analyses of the number of hours principals reported working, the numbers were then converted to a percentage of the total work week. Principals could have worked a different number of hours in each school grouping. Therefore, a percentage of the work week was deemed to be a better way of determining whether differences were present in how principals spent their work week.

The MANOVA revealed a statistically significant difference, Wilks' $\Lambda = .821, p$ < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .179$, in the percentage of time spent per week by principals on different activities as a function of school size (i.e., Small-size, Large-size). Using Cohen's (1988) criteria, the effect size was large. Univariate follow-up analysis of variance procedures revealed statistically significant differences between principals in Large-size schools in Small-size schools in the percentage of time spent per week working with teachers on instructional issues F(1,589) = 41.80, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 =$.066, a moderate effect size; in the percentage of time spent per week monitoring hallways, playgrounds, and lunchrooms, F(1,589) = 36.47, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .058$, a small effect size; in the percentage of time spent per week teaching, F(1,589) = 25.32, p< .001, partial $\eta^2 = .041$, a small effect size; in the percentage of time spent per week talking and meeting with parents, F(1,589) = 16.83, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .028$, a small effect size; and in the percentage of time spent meeting with students, F(1,589) = 7.35, p = .007, partial η^2 . = .012, small effect size. Statistically significant differences were not yielded between private elementary school principals in Large-size and in Small-size schools in the percentage of time spent per week in the remaining three areas of activities including working on internal school management, F(1, 589) = 1.23, p = .267; working on school discipline and attendance, F(1,589) = 2.51, p = .113; and working on paperwork required by local, state, or federal authorities, F(1,589) = 2.16, p = .143. Tables 3.3 and 3.4 contain the descriptive statistics for the percentage of hours private elementary school principals spent per week on different activities by school-size status.

Insert Tables 3.3 and 3.4 about here

With respect to working with teachers on instructional issues, private elementary school principals of Large-size schools spent a statistically significantly higher percentage of their week on this activity than private elementary school principals in Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools reported 17.53% of their time spent each week on this activity. In comparison, principals of Small-size schools spent 13.87% of their week spent on this activity almost four percentage points less than principals of Large-size schools.

Concerning the percentage of time spent per week monitoring hallways, playgrounds, and lunchrooms, private elementary school principals of Small-size schools spent statistically significantly more time than principals of Large-size schools on this task. The percentage of time spent by principals of Small-size schools weekly on this activity was 9.42%. Principals of Large-size schools spent 5.88% of their work week monitoring school areas, roughly four percentage points less that principals of Small-size schools.

A statistically significant difference in the percentage of time spent teaching between private elementary school principals was revealed in this investigation. Private elementary school principals of Small-size schools spent over five percentage points more of their time than principals of Large-size schools on this activity. Specifically, principals of Small-size schools spent 9.60% of their time teaching each week wherein, principals of Large-size schools devoted 4.30% to teaching.

In regard to the percentage of time spent meeting with parents weekly, a statistically significant difference was yielded between private elementary school principals of Large-size schools and Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools spent a higher percentage, over one percentage point, of their work week on this activity than principals of Small-size school. Principals of Large-size schools spent 13.32% of their time meeting with parents each week compared to 11.90% of the time principals of Small-size schools spent meeting with parents.

Concerning the percentage of time spent meeting with students each week, private elementary school principals in Large-size schools spent a statistically significantly higher percentage on this activity than principals of Small-size schools. Principals of Large-size schools spent 8.90% of their time on this activity. Principals of Small-size schools spent 7.69% of their work week on this activity, over one percentage point less time than principals of Large-size schools spent. Statistically significant differences were not yielded in this investigation between private elementary school principals of Large-size and Small-size schools in three areas. Specifically, similar percentages of time were spent by principals working on school management, working on discipline and attendance, and working on paperwork required by local, state, or federal authorities. Principals of Small-size and of Large-size school spent about 30.00% of their time on school management, almost 8.00% of their time on discipline and attendance, and over 10.00% of their time on required paperwork.

Discussion

In this study, the amount of time private elementary school principals spent on specific activities during the work week was examined as a function of school size. Analyses were conducted on principals' responses obtained from the National Center for Education Statistics, a national dataset. Inferential statistical procedures revealed differences were present in how private elementary school principals reported spending their time on specific activities as a function of school-size based on student enrollment. Principals of Large-size private elementary schools spent more hours per week working with teachers on instructional issues, on student discipline and attendance, on meeting with parents, and on meeting with students than principals of Small-size private elementary schools spent more hours per week monitoring school areas and teaching than principals of Large-size private elementary schools. The amount of time in hours per week spent on school management and on required paperwork did not yield statistically significant results.

Readers should note that principals in Small-size private elementary schools reported spending slightly less than 48 hours per week on the specific activities listed on the survey, wherein principals of Large-size private elementary schools reported spending slightly more than 48 hours on the same activities. Therefore, a potential confounding interpretation may exist because the hours reported by the principals may represent different percentages of the total work week. As a result, the ways principals spent their time during the work week were also analyzed by the percentage of time allocated for each activity.

Results from the statistical analyses on the percentage of time spent during the week on specific activities were that principals of Large-size private elementary schools spent a statistically significantly greater percentage of their work week on working with teachers on instructional issues, on talking and meeting with parents, and on meeting with students. Principals of Small-size schools spent more time monitoring school areas and teaching. The percentage of time spent on school management, student discipline and attendance, and on required paperwork did not yield statistically significant results.

Connections with Existing Literature

The role of principals and their impact on student achievement has been extensively investigated (Azaiez, 2017; Smith, 2013). Researchers (Camburn et al., 2010) have contended that awareness of time spent on specific activities may result in a shift in the focus of time use. Through the use of a daily log, public school principals reported spending about 23.00% of their time on student affairs and 19.00% of their time on instructional leadership. These percentages are higher than the percentages reported by private school principals in this investigation. The findings in this investigation are in alignment with the results of Azaiez (2017) in which he documented that principals in Large-size public schools spent more time working with teachers on instructional issues than principals of Small-size public schools. Revealed in this investigation was the time spent on specific activities by private elementary school principals as a function of school-size. Specifically, private elementary school principals in Large-size schools spent more time working with teachers on instructional issues than private elementary school principals in Large-size schools spent more time working with teachers on instructional issues than private elementary school principals in Large-size schools spent more time working with teachers on instructional issues than private elementary school principals in Small-size schools.

Furthermore, as in Smith's (2013) study, leadership practice in private elementary schools appears to be affected by context. According to Smith, the time principals allocate to specific tasks varies based on the community of students the principal served. Principals in cities and towns allocated time differently than principals in rural communities. Similarly, in this investigation, principals in Small-size schools spent their time during the work week on different activities than did principals of Large-size schools.

Implications for Policy and Practice

School principals are entrusted to ensure school structures are implemented to meet the goal to increase student achievement. Several researchers (Blase et al., 2010; Marzano et al., 2005) have examined the role of the public school principal and their influence on the success or failure of student achievement. As such, principals execute a variety of functions which include performing administrative tasks such as interviewing teachers, filing reports, collecting data; serving as instructional leaders whereby encouraging teachers to try new and innovative teaching methods; meeting with students to coach or redirect behavior; conferencing with parents to discuss concerns; and teaching in the classroom. Consequently, principals must be mindful of their role to prioritize the tasks that provide the most benefits to the organization and their students.

High-performing principals delegate administrative duties and use their time to focus on instructional leadership (Blase et al., 2010). The results of this study were that private elementary school principals in Large-size schools spent statistically significant more time working with teachers on instructional issues than private elementary school principals in Small-size schools. They also spent numerically less time on school management, monitoring school areas, and teaching. Thus, private school principals and administrators should focus their attention on how they spend their time during the week and make adjustments as needed in their weekly schedule. Hiring additional administrative and clerical staff to relieve some of the burdens of the managerial tasks of running a school would be a benefit for private school principals. These measures would provide private school principals with more time for classroom visits, coaching teachers, and giving feedback to teachers.

Recommendations for Future Research

Several recommendations for future research can be made based on the results of this empirical investigation. First, in this investigation, only one year of data was analyzed, consequently, examining additional years of data and replication of this study is recommended. Second, in this study, school-size was defined based on student enrollment. As such, researchers are encouraged to restructure the definition of schoolsize in a manner that reflects actual student enrollments in private schools. Third, a research investigation into the differences that may exist in how principals in private schools spend their time at work by school size could provide relevant data with regard to the effectiveness of their time use. Finally, researchers are recommended to examine whether differences might be present in the way private school principals spend their time at work at the middle and high school level.

Conclusion

The purpose of this research was to determine the extent to which differences were present in how private elementary school principals spent their time during the work week based on school size. A national dataset was obtained from the National Center for Education statistics. Specifically acquired were the hours spent at work by private elementary school principals on specific activities and student enrollment number. Two school categories were generated based on student enrollment: Large-size schools and Small-size schools. The times spent on specific activities were analyzed by student enrollment number. Statistically significant differences were revealed in the time spent between private elementary school principals in Large-size schools and in Small-size schools on working with teachers on instructional issues; on student discipline and attendance; on monitoring student areas; teaching; on talking and meeting with parents; and on meeting with students. Principals of Large-schools allocated more time each week working with teachers on instructional issues; on student discipline and attendance; on meeting with parents; and on meeting with students than was allocated by principals of Small-size schools. Elementary school principals of Small-size schools spent more time monitoring school areas and teaching than principals of Large-size schools. The results of this research highlight the importance of an awareness of best practices employed by principals to result in desired outcomes for students.

References

- Azaiez, H. (2017). Differences in student achievement and principal behavior as a function of years of principal experience: A national investigation. Doctor of Education (Educational Leadership), December 2017, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, TX.
- Blase, J., Blase, J., & Phillips, D. Y. (2010). Handbook of school improvement: How high-performing principals create high-performing schools. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press. doi:10.4135/9781483350349
- Camburn, E., Spillane, J., & Sebastian, J. (2010). Assessing the utility of a daily log for measuring principal leadership practice. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 46, 707-737. doi:10.1177/0013161X10377343
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.7748/nr.12.1.82.s2
- DeVita, M. C., Colvin, R. L., Darling-Hammond, L., Haycock, K. (2007, October). Education leadership: A bridge to school reform. Paper presented at the Wallace Foundation's national conference, New York, NY.
- DuFour, R., DuFour, R., & Eaker, R. (2009). *Revisiting professional learning* communities at work: New insights for improving schools. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using SPSS (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2014). *Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA; Sage.
- Leithwood, K., & Louis, K. S. (2012). *Linking leadership to student learning*. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Marzano, R. J., Waters, T., & McNulty, B. S. (2005). School leadership that works: From research to results. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. doi:10.1108/09578230710747857
- Murphy, J. (1988). Methodological, measurement, and conceptual problems in the study of instructional leadership. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 10, 117-139. doi:10.3102/01623737010002117
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). *Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten class of 2010-2011*. Retrieved from http://www.nces.ed.gov/ecls

No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, P.L. 107-110, 20 U.S.C. § 6319 (2002).

- Northouse, P. G. (2013). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.1108/jea-08-2013-0093
- Ravitch, D. (2014). *Reign of error*. New York, NY: Vintage Books. doi:10.5860/choice.51-5720
- Smith, P. (2013). The relationship between principal time allocation and work effectiveness: Evidence across city, suburban, town and rural school districts. *National Teacher Education Journal*, 6, 27-36.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2009). *State regulation of private schools*. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/admins/comm/choice/regprivschl/regprivschl.pdf

- U.S. Department of Education. (2015). *Every Student Succeeds Act.* Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn
- von der Embse, N. P., Sandilos, L. E., Pendergast, L., & Mankin, A. (2016). A mediation analysis of teacher stress, self-efficacy, and job satisfaction. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *50*, 308-317. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2016.08.001

Descriptive Statistics for the Number of Hours Spent per Week for Small-size Private

Area of Emphasis	М	SD
Working with Teachers	6.58	4.73
School Management	13.20	7.76
Discipline and Attendance	3.34	2.40
Monitoring School Areas	4.50	4.53
Teaching	5.91	9.05
Meeting with Parents	5.44	3.92
Meeting with Students	3.76	3.12
Working on Required Paperwork	4.86	5.31

Elementary School Principals

Note. The number of principals in this analysis was 364.

Descriptive Statistics for the Number of Hours Spent per Week for Large-size Private

Area of Emphasis	М	SD
Working with Teachers	8.42	4.57
School Management	12.59	8.44
Discipline and Attendance	3.92	3.48
Monitoring School Areas	3.87	4.26
Teaching	2.20	3.66
Meeting with Parents	7.49	5.47
Meeting with Students	4.39	3.37
Working on Required Paperwork	5.25	5.80

Elementary School Principals

Note. The number of principals in this analysis was 381.

Descriptive Statistics for the Percentage of Hours Spent per Week for Small-size Private

Area of Emphasis	<i>M%</i>	SD%
Working with Teachers	13.87	7.88
School Management	29.35	14.81
Discipline and Attendance	7.12	5.40
Monitoring School Areas	9.42	8.49
Teaching	9.60	16.70
Meeting with Parents	11.90	9.09
Meeting with Students	7.69	4.55
Working on Required Paperwork	11.05	12.10

Elementary School Principals

Note. The number of principals in this analysis was 309.

Descriptive Statistics for the Percentage of Hours Spent per Week for Large-size Private

Area of Emphasis	M%	SD%
Working with Teachers	17.53	5.55
School Management	30.98	20.62
Discipline and Attendance	7.90	6.46
Monitoring School Areas	5.88	5.20
Teaching	4.26	6.49
Meeting with Parents	14.88	9.09
Meeting with Students	8.95	6.58
Working on Required Paperwork	9.63	11.35

Elementary School Principals

Note. The number of principals in this analysis was 282.

CHAPTER IV

DIFFERENCES IN THE PROBLEM MATTERS ADDRESSED BETWEEN PRINCIPALS OF SMALL-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AND PRINCIPALS OF LARGE-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS

This dissertation follows the style and format of Research in the Schools (RITS).
Abstract

In this investigation, the degree to which differences were present between private elementary school principals at Small-size schools (i.e., less than 250 students) and private elementary school principals at Large-size schools (i.e., 250 or more students) in problem matters that occurred on their school campus was addressed. Data were acquired from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 Principal Survey. Statistically significant differences were revealed in four of the eight areas private elementary school principals rated in frequency as a problem matter that occurred on their school campus. Principals of Large-size schools emphasized statistically significant more problem matters in children bringing in or using illegal drugs, vandalism of school property, student bullying, and class cutting than principals of Small-size schools. Suggestions for future research and implications for policy and practice were made.

Keywords: ECLS-K, Student enrollment, Small-size schools, Large-size schools, Problem matters.

DIFFERENCES IN THE PROBLEM MATTERS ADDRESSED BETWEEN PRINCIPALS OF SMALL-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AND PRINCIPALS OF LARGE-SIZE PRIVATE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS

The time and effort that teachers and principals spend in addressing problem matters within their classrooms and schools affect student outcomes. Researchers (Catalano, Oesterle, Fleming, & Hawkins, 2004; Lee, Cornell, Gregory, & Fan, 2011; Payton et al., 2008; Wang, Selman, Dishion, & Stormshak, 2010) focused on public school communities confirm that safe and supportive schools provide opportunities for student outcomes such as reduced incidences in school violence (Lee et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2010) and engagement in risky behaviors (Catalano et al., 2004) along with increased academic achievement (Payton et al., 2008).

Because the number of students enrolled in private schools in the United States exceeds 5 million students (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017a), investigating the effect that problem matters affect students in private schools is warranted. Important to realize, the research literature related to problem matters addressed in private schools based as a function of school size is limited. Although some researchers (Almulla, 2015; Leithwood & Jantzi, 2009) have explored the effect of school size on school climate and discipline in public schools, few researchers have focused this attention on private schools.

In recent years, widely publicized instances of school violence (Musu-Gillette et al., 2018) have resulted in concern over whether school leaders are capable of educating students in environments free of social and physical aggression. Be that as it may, concern for student safety has been an ongoing issue for educators and the subject of federal mandates for many years. For example, in 1989, one element of the National Education Goals was that U.S. citizens would have "safe, disciplined, and drug-free schools" in an "environment conducive to learning" (Executive Office of the President, 1990, p. 6). More recently, non-academic factors that influence student learning and contribute to student success including health and safety, climate and culture, and positive behavior intervention and support were identified in the Every Student Succeeds Act (U.S. Department of Education, 2015). As a result of these mandates, school leaders are required to implement social competencies in addition to ensuring academic achievement.

Discipline problems in an educational setting require teachers and administrators to devote excessive amounts of time and energy toward their resolution, efforts that detract from classroom instruction (Blase, Blase, & Phillips, 2010). The manner in which problems are resolved may be dependent on several factors including: the culture and climate that permeates the school, the professional training provided to teachers to support classroom management practices, and the effectiveness of classroom management actions implemented by teachers to support student achievement (Blase et al., 2010).

The culture and climate of a school community affects the behavior of teachers and students (Allen, Grigsby, & Peters, 2015; DuFour, DuFour, & Eaker, 2009; Gershenson & Langbein, 2015; Goldkind & Farmer, 2013; Lunenburg & Ornstein, 2012). Lunenburg and Ornstein (2012) contended that school culture is comprised of the shared beliefs, attitudes, motivation, leadership, and communications that define the organization and establish standards within which all stakeholders function. School climate characterizes the physical and psychological aspects of a school (Lunenburg & Ornstein, 2012). Aspects of school climate are more responsive to change and contribute to the conditions required for effective teaching and learning to occur. Consequently, administrators and teachers who lead students in their academic development are also responsible for ensuring the school culture and climate is conducive to learning.

Stakeholders must cultivate the social, emotional, and academic aptitudes in which children learn to apply problem-solving skills, interact respectfully, and resolve conflict peacefully to accomplish the goal of ensuring a safe, supportive, favorable school climate is achieved. The National School Climate Center (2018) identified the quality and character of school life as crucial to the development of school climate. A favorable school climate occurs when norms, values, and expectations support people feeling socially, emotionally, and physically safe; students and others are engaged and respected; educators' model and nurture attitudes that emphasize the benefits and satisfaction gained from learning; and each person contributes to the operations of the school and the care of the physical environment (National School Climate Center, 2018).

School principals play a crucial role in ensuring the school environment is conducive to learning through the teachers they hire and the decisions they make that shape the school culture (Stewart, 2012). Researchers (Downer, Rimm-Kaufman, & Pianta, 2007; Greenwood, Horton, & Utley, 2002) confirmed active classroom engagement predicts student success; on the other hand, disruptive behavior predicts failure (Noltemeyer, Ward, & Mcloughlin, 2015). Disruptive student behavior is challenging for teachers and often affects the entire classroom due to the attention that is drawn from instruction to deal with the negative behavior. The effects of principal leadership on student achievement and school climate have been extensively analyzed by numerous researchers (e.g., Green, 2012; Hallinger & Heck, 2010; Louis, Dretzke, & Wahlstrom, 2010). Specifically, researchers (Danielson, 2006; Fullan, 2006; Leithwood, Louis, Anderson, & Wahlstrom, 2004) have documented the direct influence that principals have on student achievement through their interactions with students, input on the arrangement of classroom-sizes, and student placements in classrooms (Danielson, 2006; Fullan, 2006; Leithwood et al., 2004). Furthermore, Louis, Leithwood, Wahlstrom, and Anderson (2010) documented that principals indirectly affect student achievement through the influence they exert on the school's climate and culture through teacher professional development, increased collaboration, distributed leadership, and implementation of policies and procedures. Teacher preparation is enhanced by principals who use these techniques which in turn contributes to student success.

Unfortunately for some students, teachers enter the classroom with limited classroom management skills (Stewart, 2012). Gage, Scott, Hirn, and MacSuga-Gage (2018) confirmed that ineffectively handling student disruptions affects the entire classroom. Principals who provide teachers with support and training to identify and prevent disruptive classroom behaviors may serve to protect and preserve the social and instructional climate in the classroom.

Gage et al. (2018) examined the experiences of teachers as they implemented evidence-based classroom management in classrooms to determine their impact on student engagement. Effective classroom management decreases problem behavior and increases student achievement (Korpershoek et al., 2016; Oliver, Wehby, & Reschly, 2011). Gage et al. (2018) asserted that specific practices likely to increase student engagement include active teaching, increased opportunities for students to respond, and positive feedback to students.

During periods of teaching (Pianta, Hamre, & Allen, 2012), teachers engage in activities that include explaining, demonstrating or modeling a concept, principle or activity related to an academic topic while furthering the lesson/objective of the class; this active teaching increases the probability of student engagement (Pianta et al., 2012; Williford et al., 2013). Opportunities to respond are curriculum-related prompts provided by the teacher that may result in improved student outcomes (Kern & Clemens, 2007: MacSuga-Gage & Gage, 2015). Rates for the occurrence of opportunities to respond within three to five minutes have been documented to increase student engagement. Feedback to students through verbal and gestural positive performance feedback is another measure of teacher engagement that increases student achievement and social behavior. Hattie (2009) concluded that feedback ranked in the top 10 of all behaviors that teachers utilize to facilitate student success. According to Gage et al. (2018), teachers who actively engage students in classroom instruction experience increases in opportunities for student learning and reductions in student disruptions.

Another factor that may affect school climate and discipline is school size. Researchers (Gershenson & Langbein, 2015; Goldkind & Farmer, 2013; Johnston, 2009; Leung & Ferris, 2008) concluded that school size affects student behavior and academic achievement wherein higher rates of student discipline occur in larger schools. According to Coleman (1988), the size of a school affects the social capital within a school community. In larger schools, students interact less frequently with fellow students, teachers, and administrators (Gottfredson & DiPietro, 2011) than in smaller schools. On the other hand, researchers (Akerlof & Kranton, 2002; Boccardo, Schwartz, Stiefel, & Wiswall, 2013) have contended that students in small schools have better connections with the school and other students than students in large schools.

Statement of the Problem

Discipline and behavior problems have the potential to create chaotic environments in classrooms, and the adverse effects of disruptive and distracting student behaviors affect teaching and learning for all students (Johnston, 2009; Leung & Ferris, 2008). Addressing the issues that result in the negative behavior is essential for the students exhibiting the problem behaviors and for their classroom peers. To maintain classroom order, teachers may utilize fundamental techniques including engaging instruction, strategic classroom management, and establishing positive relationships with students (Gage et al., 2018). In reality, at times, students present with persistent problems including oppositional defiant, disruptive, or defiant behavior that may require the use of resources from outside of the classroom (Oliver et al., 2011). Other teachers, behavior specialists, and school administrators may provide valuable resources to classroom teachers for reducing behavior problems.

Teachers play a crucial role in shaping children's behaviors (Bandura, 1977) and the social climate of the classroom and the school have an impact on the interactions between students and school staff. Consequently, teachers must be cognizant of ways to guide and manage classroom behavior to enhance teaching and learning. Teachers may be more successful in creating a positive classroom environment with the support of school leadership in providing strategies and programs for behavior intervention when warranted. Private schools typically serve a specific community of learners. Therefore, the nature of the school (e.g., religious school) may define the expectations for student behavior and have an effect on the extent to which teacher support in addressing problem matters is required. Although researchers on this topic have focused on public schools, understanding the extent to which problem matters affects learning in private schools is worthy of investigation.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to analyze the extent to which differences were present in the problem matters addressed at their schools between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools. Specifically addressed were the problems encountered by principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools regarding theft, physical conflicts among students, children bringing in or using alcohol at school, children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school, vandalism of school property, student bullying, widespread disorder in classrooms, and class cutting. The results from these investigations might reveal differences in school culture that exist between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools.

Significance of the Study

Researchers (e.g., Gage et al., 2018; Korpershoek et al., 2016; Oliver et al., 2011) have contributed to the understanding of the effect school discipline has on student learning in the public sector. Very few, if any, researchers have examined the consequences of school discipline for private school students. As such, the results of this study may be used by educational leaders to fill a void in the literature on the problem matters addressed by private elementary school principals. Consequently, insight may be obtained by stakeholders that will lead to understanding the differences that exist in the problem matters addressed between private school principals in Small-size schools and in Large-size schools. Results obtained herein may offer insight to educational leaders into the unique problem matters addressed in private schools and highlight the differences between their influence on student learning and achievement. Private school administrators may use this information to identify specific problem matters on their campus and proactively anticipate solutions to improve student achievement and overall school effectiveness.

Research Questions

In this empirical investigation, the following research questions were addressed: (a) What is the difference in problems encountered with theft between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools?; (b) What is the difference in problems encountered with physical conflicts among students between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools?; (c) What is the difference in problems encountered with children bringing in or using alcohol at school between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools?; (d) What is the difference in problems encountered with children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools?; (e) What is the difference in problems encountered with vandalism of school property between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools?; (f) What is the difference in problems encountered with student bullying between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools?; (g) What is the difference in problems encountered with widespread disorder in classrooms between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools?; and (h) What is the difference in problems encountered with class cutting between principals of Small-size private elementary schools and principals of Large-size private elementary schools?

Method

Research Design

Because the data reflect events that have already occurred, a non-experimental, ex post facto research design was present (Creswell, 2014; Johnson & Christensen, 2014). As such, neither the independent variables nor the dependent variables were capable of manipulation, nor could extraneous variables be controlled. In this empirical investigation, previously obtained archival data from the National Center for Education Statistics were analyzed.

In this study, the independent variable was private school principals categorized into two groups of principals: (a) principals of Small-size private elementary schools, and (b) principals of Large-size private elementary schools. Small-size private schools were defined as schools with fewer than 250 students; Large-size schools were defined as schools with 250 or more students. The dependent variables were comprised of eight items on the survey in which principals were queried to respond to the problem matters addressed at their schools in (a) theft; (b) physical conflicts among students; (c) children bringing in or using alcohol at school; (d) children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school; (e) vandalism of school property; (f) student bullying; (g) widespread disorder in classrooms; and (h) class cutting.

Participants and Instrumentation

Principals in public and private schools nationwide participated in this study by responding to a survey administered by The National Center for Education Statistics (2017b), an agency within the Institute of Education Sciences of the U.S. Department of Education. The Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 (ECLS-K:2011) was utilized to compile information from multiple sources to identify rich data on a diverse group of students in both public and private elementary schools. Parents, teachers, caregivers and school personnel voluntarily provided descriptive information on children's progress from their entry to school through their progression through elementary school.

The ECLS-K: 2011 self-administered questionnaires are analyzed by researchers and provide information about a wide range of factors that affect children's school performance over time (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017b). Consequently, a comprehensive picture of the children's experiences and development may be obtained by researchers (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017b). Students who participated in the study attended both full-day and part-day programs upon entry into the Kindergarten Class of 2010-2011 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017b).

The school administrator questionnaire is comprised of the following eight sections: (a) School characteristics; (b) School facilities and resources; (c) School-

community-family connections; (d) School policies and practices; (e) School programs for particular populations; (f) Federal Programs: Title 1, Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP), and Title III (if applicable); (g) Staffing and teacher characteristics; and (h) School administrator characteristics. The item in section (c), School-community-family connections, specifically related to this study was: To the best of your knowledge how often do the following types of problems occur at your school? Administrators responded to a Likert-type scale by marking how frequently specific problems occur, ranging from Happens daily to Never happens. The specific problem matters about which they were asked were: (a) theft; (b) physical conflicts among students; (c) children bringing in or using alcohol at school; (d) children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school; (e) vandalism of school property; (f) student bullying; (g) widespread disorder in classrooms; and (h) class cutting.

Archival data from the Spring 2012 School Administrators Questionnaire were obtained from the ECLS-K: 2011 database, and then imported into the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software program. Administrator responses to the questions concerning problem matters addressed in their schools were used for this study. Labels were given to variables used in this investigation after the ECLS-K: 2011 data file was converted into a SPSS data file. Minimal errors in the data are assumed to be present because data were reported to the National Center for Education Statistics directly from participating schools. For technical information regarding score reliability and validity of the ECLS-K: 2011 testing instruments, readers are directed to the National Center for Education Statistics website.

Results

To ascertain whether differences were present in the problem matters addressed between private elementary school principals on their school campus in (a) theft; (b) physical conflicts among students; (c) children bringing in or using alcohol at school; (d) children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school; (e) vandalism of school property; (f) student bullying; (g) widespread disorder in classrooms; and (h) class cutting based on school-size status (i.e., Small-size schools, Large-size schools), Pearson chi-square analyses were conducted. This statistical procedure was viewed as the optimal statistical procedure to use because frequency data were present for problem matters addressed in schools and for both private school principal groups (Slate & Rojas-LeBouef, 2011). As such, chi-squares are the statistical procedure of choice when both variables are categorical (i.e., problem matters addressed in schools, school-size status). In addition, with the large sample size, the available sample size per cell was more than five. Therefore, the assumptions for utilizing a chi-square were met. Because the same statistical procedure was used eight times in this study, the Bonferroni method of adjustment (Vogt, 2005) was used to correct for experiment-wise error. The conventional level of statistical significance (i.e., .05) was divided by 8 to yield an adjusted level of .006 that had to be reached for a result to be viewed as being statistically significant.

With respect to the first research question, a statistically significant difference was not yielded, $\chi^2(1) = 3.26$, p = .07, between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in how often theft was reported as a problem on their campus. As revealed in Table 4.1, similar percentages, approximately 65.00%, of Large-size and of Small-size private elementary principals reported that theft was a problem on occasion. Of importance to readers is that 29.50% of the Large-size and 35.40% of the Small-size private elementary school principals responded that theft never happened on their school campus.

Insert Table 4.1 about here

Concerning the second research question, a statistically significant difference was present between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in how often physical conflicts among students was reported as a problem on their campus, $\chi^2(1) = 13.72$, p = .003. As delineated in Table 4.2, principals reported the frequency of the incidence of physical conflicts to occur at least once a week, at least once a month, on occasion and never happens. Principals in Small-size schools reported that physical conflicts happened on the campus at a rate of 0.50% weekly and at a rate of 1.90% monthly. In comparison, principals of Large-size schools reported that bullying did not happen weekly or monthly on campus. Of note to readers is 19.00% of Large-size and 14.30% of Small-size private elementary school principals responded that problems with physical conflict among students never happened on their school campus.

Insert Table 4.2 about here

With respect to the third research question, a statistically significant difference was revealed between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in how often children bringing in or using alcohol at school was reported as a problem on their campus, $\chi^2(1) = 9.88$, p = .002. As revealed in Table 4.3, a higher percentage, 3.00%, of Large-size private elementary school principals reported that children bringing in or using alcohol at school occurred on occasion than was reported by Small-size private elementary school principals, 0.02%. A high percentage, 97% of Large-size and 99.80% of Small-size private elementary school principals, reported that children bringing in or using alcohol at school never happened on their campus.

Insert Table 4.3 about here

In regard to the fourth research question, a statistically significant difference was present, $\chi^2(1) = 21.93$, p < .001, between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in how often children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school was reported as a problem on their school campus. The effect size for this finding, Cramer's V, was .16, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988). As revealed in Table 4.4, a higher percentage, 7.00%, of Large-size private elementary school principals reported that children bringing in or using illegal drugs on their campus than was reported by Small-size school principals, 0.70%. Readers should note the high percentage of principals, 93.00%, of Large-size and 99.30% of Small-size private elementary school principals, who reported that children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school never happened on their school campus.

Insert Table 4.4 about here

Concerning the fifth research question, how often vandalism of school property was reported as a problem on their campus, a statistically significant difference, $\chi^2(1) =$ 59.65, p < .001, was revealed between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals. The effect size for this finding, Cramer's V, was .27, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988). As presented in Table 4.5, Principals of Large-size elementary schools reported a higher percentage, 69.80%, of vandalism of school property on their campus than was reported by principals of Small-size elementary schools, 42.90%. Of importance to readers is 57.10% of Small-size private elementary schools principals reported that vandalism of school property never happens on their campus. In comparison, 30.30% of Large-size private elementary school principals reported that vandalism of school property never happens on their campus.

Insert Table 4.5 about here

A statistically significant difference, $\chi^2(1) = 48.85$, p < .001, was present between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals with respect to the sixth research question, how often student bullying was reported as a problem on their campus. Cramer's V, for this finding, was .23, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988). As revealed in Table 4.6, Principals of Large-size elementary schools reported the problem of student bullying happened on occasion at a higher percentage, 83.0%, than did principals of Small-size elementary schools, 73.0%. Principals reported the frequency of the incidence of student bullying to occur at least once a week, at least once a month, on occasion and never happens. Principals in Small-size schools reported that bullying happened weekly on the campus at a rate of 4.30% weekly and at a rate of 10.40% monthly. In comparison, principals of Large-size schools reported that bullying happened weekly on the campus at a rate of 0.00% and at a monthly rate of 14.50%. Readers should note the higher percentage, 12.30%, reported by Small-size private elementary school principals that student bullying never happens on their campus than the percentage, 2.50%, reported by Large-size private elementary school principals.

Insert Table 4.6 about here

In regard to the seventh research question, how often widespread disorder in the classroom occurred on their campus, a statistically significant finding was not present between Large-size and Small-size private elementary school principals, $\chi^2(1) = 0.69$, p = .41. Revealed in Table 4.7 are similar percentages, 20.50% of Large-size and 22.90% of Small-size private elementary school principals who reported that problems in widespread disorder in the classroom happened on occasion on their school campus. Interestingly, 79.50% of Large-size and 77.10% of Small-size private elementary school principals reported that problems with widespread disorder in the classroom never happened on their school campus.

Insert Table 4.7 about here

Concerning the eighth research question, a statistically significant difference, $\chi^2(1) = 154.38, p < .001$, was revealed between Small-size and Large-size private elementary school principals in how often class cutting was a problem on their campus. The effect size for this finding, Cramer's V, was .44, a moderate effect size (Cohen, 1988). A higher percentage, 36.30%, of principals of Large-size private elementary school principals reported that class cutting happened on occasion on their campus than reported by principals of Small-size private elementary schools, 2.20%. As revealed in Table 4.8, readers should note the high percentage, 97.80%, reported by principals of Small-size private schools that class cutting never happened on their campus. In comparison, 63.80% of principals of Large-size private schools reported that class cutting never happened on their campus.

.....

Insert Table 4.8 about here

Discussion

In this study, the extent to which differences were present in the problem matters addressed by private elementary school principals as a function of school size based on student enrollment was examined. Analyses were conducted of principals' responses obtained from a national dataset. Results were that private elementary school principals of Large-size schools reported that they had statistically significantly greater problem matters in children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school, vandalism of school property, student bullying, and class cutting than was reported by private elementary school principals of Small-size schools. Principals differed most in the problem matter of class cutting followed by student bullying, vandalism of school property, and children bringing in or using illegal drugs at school. In contrast, principals of Large-size schools and Small-size schools had similar experiences with problem matters of theft, physical conflicts among students, children bringing in our using alcohol at school, and in widespread disorder in classrooms.

Connection with Existing Literature

The culture and climate of a school have an effect on the quality of school life and the characteristics of behaviors displayed by the students (National School Climate Center, 2018). Supportive school communities typically result in positive outcomes for children wherein disruptive behavior predicts failure (Lee et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2010). The findings of this study are aligned with the findings of researchers (Gershenson & Langbein, 2015; Goldkind & Farmer, 2013; Leung & Ferris, 2008) who asserted that higher rates of discipline occur in larger schools. Revealed in this investigation were the problem matters addressed by private elementary school principals as a function of school-size. Specifically, private elementary school principals in Large-size schools addressed problem matters of children bringing in or using illegal drugs, vandalism of school property, student bullying, and class cutting more frequently than principals of Small-size schools.

Relationships between discipline and school size were revealed in this study. As such, the results for this study are congruent with the results of other researchers (Gershenson & Langbein, 2015; Goldkind & Farmer, 2013; Johnston, 2009; Leung & Ferris, 2008) who emphasized that higher rates of discipline occur in larger schools. Of the problem matters addressed for which private elementary school principals rated the frequency of occurrence on their school campus, seven out of eight of the problem matters addressed were reported as occurring more frequently in Large-size schools than in Small-size schools. Widespread disorder was the only problem matter that was reported as occurring more frequently in Small-size schools.

Implications for Policy and Practice

In this investigation, private elementary school principals of Large-size schools addressed more problem matters on their school campus than private elementary school principals of Small-size schools. As such, an implication is that private elementary school principals of Large-size schools should examine the processes and structures in place on their campus to address problem matters adequately. In turn, this insight may be used to determine best practices to create a more supportive school environment.

Interestingly, problem matters of theft, physical conflicts among students, and student bullying were reported as occurring at a high rate by principals of both Large-size and of Small-size private elementary schools. Accordingly, private elementary school stakeholders should examine their school culture. This examination may provide feedback to support the development of aptitudes that could positively enhance students' social, emotional, and physical development.

Recommendations for Future Research

A number of recommendations for future research can be made based on the results of this empirical investigation. First, only one year of data was analyzed in this investigation. Examining additional years of data and replication of this study may provide insight into trends in problem matters addressed in schools. Second, in this study, school-size was defined based on student enrollment by dividing the database into two categories. Because student enrollment for the majority of private schools in the United States is comprised of 50 or few students (National Center for Education

Statistics, 2017a) researchers are encouraged to restructure the definition of school-size in a manner that reflects actual student enrollments in private schools. Third, a research investigation into the differences that may exist in the problem matters addressed by private school principals by school size could provide relevant data concerning how they address these problems. Finally, researchers are encouraged to examine whether differences might be present in the problem matters private school principals address at the middle and high school level.

Conclusion

The purpose of this research was to determine the extent to which differences were present in the problem matters addressed by private elementary school principals based on school size. A dataset obtained from the National Center for Education Statistics was downloaded and two school categories, Large-size and Small-size, were generated in which the frequency of problem matters addressed by student enrollment size was analyzed. Statistically significant differences were revealed in the problem matters addressed between private elementary school principals of Large-size schools and of Small-size schools in children bringing in or using illegal drugs; of vandalism of school property; in student bullying; and in class cutting. Principals of Large-size schools addressed problem matters in each area statistically significantly more frequently than principals of Small-size schools. Private elementary school principals in both categories reported similar percentages of frequencies addressing problem matters in several categories including theft; with physical conflicts among students; in children bringing in our using alcohol; and of widespread disorder

- Akerlof, G. A., & Kranton, R. E. (2002). Identity and schooling: Some lessons for the economics of education. *Journal of Economic Literature, 40,* 1167-1201.
- Allen, N., Grigsby, B., & Peters, M. L. (2015). Does leadership matter? Examining the relationship among transformational leadership, school climate, and student achievement. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 10, 1-22.
- Almulla, M. B. (2015). An investigation of teachers' perceptions of the effects of class size on teaching. *International Education Studies*, *12*, 33-42.
 doi:10.5539/ies.v8n12p33

Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. New York, NY: General Learning Press.

- Blase, J., & Phillips, D. Y. (2010). Handbook of school improvement: How
 high-performing principals create high-performing schools. Thousand Oaks, CA:
 Corwin Press. doi:10.4135/9781483350349
- Boccardo, J., Schwartz, A. E., Stiefel, L., & Wiswall, M. (2012, August). Beyond academics: Do small schools have better learning environments? Presentation at the APPAM 2012 Fall Conference, Baltimore, MD.
- Catalano, R. F., Oesterle, S., Fleming, C. B., Hawkins, J. D. (2004). The importance of bonding to school for healthy development: Findings from the social development research group. *Journal of School Health*, *74*, 252-261. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2004.tb08281.x
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal* of Sociology, 94, S95-S120.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.7748/nr.12.1.82.s2
- Danielson, C. (2006). *Teacher leadership that strengthens professional practice*.Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Downer, J. T., Rimm-Kaufman, S. E., & Pianta, R. C. (2007). How do classroom conditions and children's risk for school problems contribute to children's behavioral engagement in learning? *School Psychology Review*, 36, 413-432.
- DuFour, R., DuFour, R., & Eaker, R. (2009). *Revisiting professional learning* communities at work: New insights for improving schools. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Executive Office of the President. (1990). *National Goals for Education*. Washington, DC. ED319143
- Fullan, M. (2006). The development of transformational leaders for educational decentralization. Toronto, Canada: Micheal Fullan.
- Gage, N. A., Scott, T., Hirn, R., & MacSuga-Gage, A. S. (2017). The relationship between teachers' implementation of classroom management practices and student behavior in elementary school. *Behavioral Disorders*, 43, 302-315. doi:10.1177/0198742917714809
- Gershenson, S., & Langbein, L. (2015). The effect of primary school size on academic achievement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 37, 135-155. doi:10.3102/0162373715576075

- Goldkind, L., & Farmer, G. L. (2013). The enduring influence of school size and school climate on parents' engagement in the school community. *School Community Journal, 23*, 223-244.
- Gottfredson D. C., & DiPietro, S. M. (2011). School size, social capacity, and student victimization. *Sociology of Education*, *84*, 69-89.
- Green, R. L. (2012). Practicing the art of leadership: A problem-based approach to implementing the ISLLC standards (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill Prentice-Hall.
- Greenwood, C. R., Horton, B. T., & Utley, C. A. (2002). Academic engagement: Current perspectives on research and practice. *School Psychology Review*, *31*, 328-349.
- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. H. (2010). Collaborative leadership and school improvement: Understanding the impact on school capacity and student learning. *School Leadership and Management, 30,* 329-351. doi:10.1080/0305764032000122005
- Hattie, J. (2009). Visible learning: A synthesis of 800 meta-analysis relating to achievement. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Johnson, R. B., & Christensen, L. (2014). *Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA; Sage.
- Johnston, S. L. (2009). Improving the school environment to reduce school violence: A review of the literature. *Journal of School Health*, *79*, 451-465.
- Kern, L., & Clemens, N. H. (2007). Antecedent strategies to promote appropriate classroom behavior. *Psychology in the Schools, 44*, 65-75.
- Korpershoek, H., Harms, T., de Boer, H., van Kuijk, M., & Doolaard, S. (2016). A metaanalysis of the effects of classroom management strategies and classroom

management programs on students' academic, behavioral, emotional, and motivational outcomes. *Review of Educational Research, 86,* 643-680. doi:10.3102/0034654315626799

- Lee, T., Cornell, D., Gregory, A., & Fan, X. (2011). High suspension schools and dropout rates for Black and White students. *Education and Treatment of Children, 34*, 167-192. doi:10.1353/etc.2011.0014
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2009). A review of empirical evidence about school size effects: A policy perspective. *Review of Educational Research*, *79*, 464-490. doi:10.3102/0034654308326158
- Leithwood, K., Louis, K. S., Anderson, S., & Wahlstrom, K. (2004). *How leadership influences student learning*. New York, NY: The Wallace Foundation.
- Leung, A., & Ferris, J. S. (2008). School size and youth violence. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization, 65,* 318-333.
- Louis, K. S., Dretzke, B., & Wahlstrom, K. (2010). How does leadership affect student achievement? Results from a national US survey. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 21*, 315-336. doi:10.1080/09243453.2010.486586
- Louis, K. S, Leithwood, K., Wahlstrom, K., & Anderson, S. (2010). Learning from leadership: Investigating the links to improved student learning. The Wallace Foundation. Retrieved from https://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledgecenter/Documents/Investigating-the-Links-to-Improved-Student-Learning.pdf
- Lunenburg, F. C., & Ornstein, A. C. (2012). *Educational administration: Concepts and practices* (6th ed.) Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.

- MacSuga-Gage, A. S., & Gage, N. S. (2015). Student-level effects of increased teacherdirected opportunities to respond. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 24, 273-288. doi:10.1007/s10864-015-9223-2
- Musu-Gillette, L., Zhang, A., Wang, K., Zhang, J., Kemp, J., Diliberti, M., & Oudekerk, B.A. (2018). *Indicators of School Crime and Safety: 2017*. Retrieved from https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/iscs17.pdf
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017a). Characteristics of private schools in the United States: Results from the 2015-2016 Private School Universe Survey. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017073.pdf
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017b). *Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten class of 2010-2011*. Retrieved from http://www.nces.ed.gov/ecls
- National School Climate Center, (2018). *What is school climate?* Retrieved from https://www.schoolclimate.org/about/our-approach/what-is-school-climate
- Noltemeyer, A. L., Ward, R. M., & Mcloughlin, C. (2015). Relationship between school suspension and student out-comes: A meta-analysis. *School Psychology Review*, 44, 224-240. doi:10.17105/spr-14-0008.1
- Oliver, R., Wehby, J., & Reschly, D. (2011). Teacher classroom management practices: Effects on disruptive or aggressive student behavior. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 2011(4). 1-55. doi:10.4073/csr.2011.4
- Payton, J., Weissberg, R. P., Durlak, J. A., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., Schellinger,
 K. B., & Pachan, M. (2008). *The positive impact of social and emotional learning for kindergarten to eighth-grade students: Findings from three scientific reviews.* Chicago, IL: Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning.

- Pianta, R. C., Hamre, B. K., & Allen, J. P. (2012). Teacher-student relationships and engagement: Conceptualizing, measuring, and improving the capacity of classroom interactions. In S. L. Christenson, A. L. Reschly, & C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of research on student engagement (*pp. 365-386). New York, NY: Springer.
- Slate, J. R., & Rojas-LeBouef, A. (2011). Calculating basic statistical procedures in SPSS: A self-help and practical guide to preparing theses, dissertations, and manuscripts. Ypsilanti, MI: NCPEA Press.
- Stewart, J. (2012). Personalized learning: Hiring educators for the 21st century. *Education Canada*, 51-53.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2015). *Every Student Succeeds Act*. Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn
- Vogt, W. P. (2005). Dictionary of statistics and methodology: A nontechnical guide for the social sciences (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Wang, M. T., Selman, R. L., Dishion, T. J., & Stormshak, E. A. (2010). A tobit regression analysis of the covariation between middle school students' perceived school climate and behavioral problems. *Journal of Research on Adolescence, 20,* 274-286. doi:10.111/j.1532-7795.2010.00648.x

Williford, A. P., Maier, M. F., Downer, J. T., Pianta, R. C., & Howes, C. (2013).
Understanding how children's engagement and teachers' interactions combine to predict school readiness. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 34*, 299-309. doi:10.1016/j.appdev.2013.05.002

Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Theft Between Private Elementary School

School Size Status	Happens on Occasion	Never Happens
Small-size	(n = 268) 64.60%	(<i>n</i> = 147) 35.40%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 282) 70.50%	(<i>n</i> = 118) 29.50%

Principals by School Size Status

Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Physical Conflicts Between Private

Elementary School Principals by School Size Status

School Size Status	Small-size	Large-size
Happens at Least Once a Week	(n=2) 0.50%	(n = 0) 0.00%
Happens at Least Once a Month	(<i>n</i> = 8) 1.90%	(n = 0) 0.00%
Happens on Occasion	(<i>n</i> = 326) 78.60%	(<i>n</i> = 343) 85.80%
Never Happens	(<i>n</i> = 79) 19.00%	(<i>n</i> = 57) 14.30%

Frequencies and Percentages of Problems with Alcohol Use Between Private Elementary School Principals by School Size Status

School Size Status	Happens on Occasion	Never Happens
Small-size	(n = 1) 0.20%	(<i>n</i> = 414) 99.80%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 12) 3.00%	(<i>n</i> = 388) 97.00%

Frequencies and Percentages of Problems with Illegal Drug Use Between Private

School Size Status	Happens on Occasion	Never Happens
Small-size	(n = 3) 0.70%	(<i>n</i> = 412) 99.30%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 28) 7.00%	(<i>n</i> = 372) 93.00%

Elementary School Principals by School-size Status

Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Vandalism Between Private Elementary

School Size Status	Happens on Occasion	Never Happens
Small-size	(<i>n</i> = 178) 42.90%	(<i>n</i> = 237) 57.10%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 279) 69.80%	(<i>n</i> = 121) 30.30%

School Principals by School-size Status

Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Bullying Between Private Elementary

School Principals by School-size Status

School Size Status	Small-size	Large-size
Happens at Least Once a Week	(<i>n</i> = 18) 4.30%	(n = 0) 0.00%
Happens at Least Once a Month	(<i>n</i> = 43) 10.40%	(<i>n</i> = 58) 14.50%
Happens on Occasion	(<i>n</i> = 303) 73.00%	(<i>n</i> = 332) 83.00%
Never Happens	(<i>n</i> = 51) 12.30%	(<i>n</i> = 10) 02.50%

Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Classroom Disorder Between Private

School Size Status	Happens on Occasion	Never Happens
Small-size	(<i>n</i> = 95) 22.90%	(<i>n</i> = 320) 77.10%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 82) 20.50%	(<i>n</i> = 318) 79.50%

Elementary School Principals by School-size Status

Frequencies and Percentages of Problems in Class Cutting Between Private Elementary

School Size Status	Happens on Occasion	Never Happens
Small-size	(n = 9) 2.20%	(<i>n</i> = 406) 97.80%
Large-size	(<i>n</i> = 145) 36.30%	(<i>n</i> = 255) 63.80%

School Principals by School-size Status

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Enrollment in private schools in the United States exceeds 5 million students (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017a) and accountability in these institutions varies by state (U.S. Department of Education, 2009). Establishing a private elementary school is often as simple as filing the state forms for incorporation and opening the office for admissions. Private school leaders should be held accountable for ensuring that students enrolled in private schools receive a high quality educational experience.

In this chapter, results across three empirical investigations in this journal-ready dissertation are synthesized. In the first research study, differences between private elementary school principals in the training and support provided to teachers based on school size was revealed. In the second investigation, the extent to which school-size was related to the tasks in which principals engaged in during the work week was analyzed. Finally, in the third research article, the extent to which principals addressed various problem matters on their campus as a function of school was examined.

Summary of Study One Results

In the first research article, training and support provided to teachers by private elementary school principals were analyzed as a function of school-size based on student enrollment. Revealed in Table 5.1 are the results of the statistical analysis. Inferential statistical procedures revealed the presence of statistically significant differences in the training and support provided to teachers by private elementary school principals as a function of school-size. Clearly, private elementary school principals in Large-size
schools placed greater emphasis on providing training and support to teachers than principals in Small-size schools.

Table 5.1

Summary of Statistical Analysis of Principal Areas of Training as a Function of School

Size

Training Areas	Statistically Significant	Effect Size	School Size Group with Highest Emphasis
Reading Strategies	Yes	Small	Large
Mathematics Strategies	No	Below Small	Large
Behavior Support	No	Below Small	Large
Collecting and Managing Data	Yes	Small	Large
Interpreting and Using Data	Yes	Small	Large

Summary of Study Two Results

In the second empirical investigation, the ways principals spent their time during the work week were examined as a function of school size. Statistically significant differences were yielded in the ways principals spent their time at work, both in terms of hours as well as percent of their workweek. A summary of the statistical results is present in Table 5.2. Private elementary school principals in Large-size schools and in Small-size schools spent similar amounts of time per week, about 48 hours, working on different activities. Principals in Large-size private elementary schools spent statistically significantly more time than principals in Small-size private elementary schools on working with teachers on instructional issues, on school discipline and attendance, on talking and meeting with parents, and on meeting with students. Principals in Small-size private elementary schools spent statistically significantly more time per week than principals of Large-size private elementary schools on monitoring school areas and on teaching.

Table 5.2

Summary of Statistical Analysis of Principal Areas of Emphasis as a Function of School Size

Principal Areas of Emphasis	Statistically Significant	Effect Size	School Size Group with Highest Emphasis
Working with Teachers	Yes	Small	Large-size
School Management	No	Below Small	Small-size
Discipline and Attendance	Yes	Below Small	Large-size
Monitoring School Areas	Yes	Below Small	Small-size
Teaching	Yes	Moderate	Small-size
Meeting with Parent	Yes	Small	Large-size
Meeting with Students	Yes	Below Small	Large-size
Working on Paperwork	No	Below Small	Large-size

Summary of Study Three Results

In the third study of this journal-ready dissertation, the frequencies of problem matters addressed by principals on their campus were examined by school size. Statistically significant differences were present in the problem matters principals addressed by school size. A summary of the statistical result is presented in Table 5.3. Private elementary school principals in Large-size schools addressed problem matters in children bringing in or using illegal drugs; vandalism of school property; student bullying; and in class cutting statistically significantly more frequently than did principals in Small-size schools.

Table 5.3

Summary of Statistical Analysis of Principal Problem Matters Addressed as a Function of School Size

Problem Matters Addressed	Statistically Significant	Effect Size	School Size with Highest Emphasis
Theft	No	Below Small	Large-size
Physical Conflict	No	Below Small	Large-size
Children Bringing in or Using Alcohol	No	Below Small	Large-size
Children Bringing in or Using Illegal Drugs	Yes	Small	Large-size
Vandalism of School Property	Yes	Small	Large-size
Student Bullying	Yes	Small	Large-size
Widespread Disorder	No	Below Small	Small-size
Class Cutting	Yes	Small	Large-size

Connection with Existing Literature

A lack of empirical research exists concerning the leadership behaviors of private elementary school principals as a function of school size; although leadership behaviors of public school principals have been well documented (Blase et al., 2010; Donaldson, 2013; Fullan et al., 2006; Hall et al., 2018). Researchers (Azaiez & Slate, 2017; Brown, 2016) have contended that professional development improves instructional skills which enhances student achievement. Furthermore, principals influence teaching and learning in their schools through their efforts as instructional leaders (Béteille et al., 2009; Grissom & Loeb, 2011; Horng & Loeb, 2010).

Effective principals use a variety of techniques to provide support for teachers including classroom observations and direct instruction. These strategies improve the quality of instruction of staff (Donaldson, 2013). Investments made by principals to provide teacher training and support increases teacher effectiveness and improves the quality of schools. Commensurate with this study, Azaiez (2017) reported that principals in Large-size schools provided more training and support in all areas than did principals in Small-size schools.

With respect to the way private elementary school principals spent their time during the work week as a function of school size, a lack of research studies was present in the literature. However, several researchers (Azaiez, 2017; Azaiez & Slate, 2017, Smith, 2013) have investigated the role of public school principals on student achievement. Furthermore, the activities in which principals engage in during the work week has been researched (Camburn et al., 2010). Camburn et al. (2010) concluded that a shift can be made in the focus of time use by establishing an awareness of the time spent on specific activities. Again, the findings in this study are in alignment with the results of Azaiez (2017) who documented that principals in Large-size public schools spent more time working with teachers on instructional issues than principals of Small-size public schools.

Similarly, a lack of research was present in the literature with respect to the problem matters addressed by private elementary school principals. School culture and school climate affect the quality of school life and influence the characteristics of behaviors displayed by the students (National School Climate Center, 2018). Disruptive behavior negatively affects student achievement; on the other hand, positive outcomes have been attributed to supportive school communities (Lee et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2010). The findings of this study are commensurate with the findings of researchers (Gershenson & Langbein, 2015; Goldkind & Farmer, 2013; Leung & Ferris, 2008) who have documented that higher rates of discipline occur in schools with increased student enrollment. Specifically, private elementary school principals in Large-size schools addressed problem matters of children bringing in or using illegal drugs, vandalism of school property, student bullying, and class cutting more frequently than principals of Small-size schools.

Implications for Policy and for Practice

Requirements for private schools in the United States vary by state (U.S. Department of Education, 2009). Consequently, the quality of the educational experience for students enrolled in unregulated schools may not be the same degree of quality as for students enrolled in regulated schools. Stakeholders should devise minimum standards of practice for private schools to adhere to for ensuring the educational experience in private schools meets the social, emotional, physical, and academic needs of the students enrolled,

Concerning policy, the following suggestions can be made regarding providing training and support to teachers. Private schools should be required to adhere to minimum standards of practice through affiliation with an accreditation agency. In addition, private school teachers should participate in training in best practices in education. Finally, policymakers should enforce private school teachers to attain certification to teach.

The following implications can be made concerning professional practice to ensure private school teachers receive training and support. First, private school principals should invest time and effort toward teacher training to improve teacher skill and competence. Second, private school principals should remove barriers that may interfere with providing training and support to teachers. Time constraints, limited funding, and relevancy of topics should be considered to improve training and support for teachers (Donaldson, 2013). Third, private school principals should train teachers in methods for data collection and afford opportunities for teachers to make data-driven decisions to improve student achievement. Professional development ensures teachers are well-prepared to implement instructional strategies that support learning (Béteille et al., 2009).

School principals are entrusted to ensure school structures meet the goal to serve student needs. As such, principals spend their time during the work week on a variety of functions which include performing administrative tasks; serving as instructional leaders; meeting with students; conferencing with parents; and teaching in the classroom.

138

Consequently, principals must be mindful of how they spend their time during the week and prioritize the tasks that provide the most benefits to the organization and their students.

Researchers (Blase et al., 2010; Hall et al., 2018;) have confirmed that principals who focus on instructional leadership behaviors have a positive effect on student achievement. The results of this study were that private elementary school principals in Large-size schools spent statistically significant more time working with teachers on instructional issues than private elementary school principals in Small-size schools. In addition, principals in Large-size schools spent less time on school management, monitoring school areas, and teaching than principals in Small-size schools. Thus, private school principals and administrators may benefit by shifting their attention to activities that focus on instructional leadership activities. Hiring additional administrative and clerical staff to allow more time for classroom visits, coaching teachers, and giving feedback to teachers would also be a benefit for private school principals.

In this investigation, private elementary school principals of Large-size schools addressed more problem matters on their school campus than private elementary school principals of Small-size schools. As such, an implication is that private elementary school principals of Large-size schools should examine the processes and structures in place on their campus to address problem matters adequately. In turn, this insight may be used to determine best practices to create a more supportive school environment.

Interestingly, problem matters of theft, physical conflicts among students, and student bullying were reported as occurring at a high rate by principals of both Large-size

and of Small-size private elementary schools. Accordingly, private elementary school stakeholders should examine their school culture. This examination may provide feedback to support the development of aptitudes that will positively enhance students social, emotional, and physical development.

Recommendations for Future Research

Several recommendations for future research can be made based on the results of this journal-ready dissertation. Because only one year of data was analyzed, future researchers should examine additional years of data wherein the existence of national trends could be determined regarding leadership behaviors of private elementary school principals. In addition, school-size was defined by creating two categories, Large-size (i.e., 250 or more students) and Small-size (i.e., 249 or less students). In the United States in 2015, small-size schools of 50 or fewer students constituted the enrollment of most private schools (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017a). Therefore, researchers are encouraged to restructure the definition of school-size in a manner that reflects actual student enrollments in private schools. Furthermore, researchers are recommended to examine whether differences might be present in the leadership behaviors of private school principals at the middle and high school level.

Specifically, a research investigation into the differences that may exist in how principals in private schools spend their time at work by school size could provide relevant data with regard to the effectiveness of their time use. Researchers are also recommended to examine the ways in which private school principals train and support teachers. An examination of training and support to private school teachers as a function of student achievement could provide relevant data concerning student performance. Researchers are encouraged to use the insight gained from future research to inform private school administrators of best practices in leadership behaviors.

Conclusion

The purpose of this journal-ready dissertation was to determine the relationship of school enrollment size (i.e., Small-size and Large-size) on leadership behaviors (i.e., training and support for teachers, how principals spent their time during the work week and with the problem matters addressed on the school campus) between private elementary school principals. After obtaining and analyzing the national dataset from the National Center for Education Statistics, statistically significant results were revealed in all three studies.

Specifically, principals in Large-size private elementary schools provided statistically significantly more training and support to teachers in teaching effective reading strategies, in collecting and managing data, and in interpreting and using data than principals in Small-size private elementary schools. In fact, a higher percentage of principals in Large-size private elementary school emphasized training and support for teachers in all areas than did principals in Small-size private elementary schools. Regarding how principals spent their time during the work week, principals of Large-size schools allocated more time each week working with teachers on instructional issues; on student discipline and attendance; on talking and meeting with parents; and on meeting with students than was allocated by principals of Small-size schools. Elementary school principals of Small-size schools spent more time monitoring school areas and teaching than principals of Large-size schools. Furthermore, principals of Large-size schools addressed problem matters in children bringing in or using illegal drugs, vandalism of school property, student bullying, and class cutting statistically significantly more frequently than principals of Small-size schools. Private elementary school principals in both categories reported similar percentages of frequencies addressing problem matters in several categories including theft; with physical conflicts among students; in children bringing in our using alcohol; and of widespread disorder. High-quality learning experiences may open doors to the joy of learning and inspire children to fulfill their highest potential. Principals play a pivotal role in ensuring structures are in place to support student growth. Given the fact that parents choose private school enrollment as an alternative to public school enrollment for their children, private school principals and administrators should seek to ensure that the quality of education offered at their schools meets and, under the best circumstances, exceeds the quality of alternative educational choices.

REFERENCES

- Akerlof, G. A., & Kranton, R. E. (2002). Identity and schooling: Some lessons for the economics of education. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 40, 1167-1201.
- Allen, N., Grigsby, B., & Peters, M. L. (2015). Does leadership matter? Examining the relationship among transformational leadership, school climate, and student achievement. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 10, 1-22.
- Almulla, M. B. (2015). An investigation of teachers' perceptions of the effects of class size on teaching. *International Education Studies*, *12*, 33-42.
 doi:10.5539/ies.v8n12p33
- Azaiez, H. (2017). Differences in student achievement and principal behavior as a function of years of principal experience: A national investigation. Doctor of Education (Educational Leadership), December 2017, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, TX.
- Azaiez, H., & Slate, J. R. (2017). Student achievement as a function of principal longevity. *Journal of Advances in Education Research*, 2, 157-162. doi:10.22606/jaer.2017.23003
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. New York, NY: General Learning Press. doi:10.7208/chicago/9780226041223.001.0001
- Béteille, T., Kalogrides, D., & Loeb, S. (2009). Effective schools: Managing the recruitment, development, and retention of high-quality teachers. *National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research (CALDER), Working Paper, 37*. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute. doi:10.1037/e722022011-001

- Blase, J., Blase, J., & Phillips, D. Y. (2010). Handbook of school improvement: How
 high-performing principals create high-performing schools. Thousand Oaks, CA:
 Corwin Press. doi:10.4135/9781483350349
- Boccardo, J., Schwartz, A. E., Stiefel, L., & Wiswall, M. (2012, August). Beyond academics: Do small schools have better learning environments? Presentation at the APPAM 2012 Fall Conference, Baltimore, MD.
- Borg, D., & Slate, J. R. (2014). Principals' leadership emphasis as a function of school performance. *Frontiers in Education*, 2, 1-5.
- Brown, G. (2016). Leadership's influence: A case study of an elementary principal's indirect impact on student achievement. *Education, 137,* 101-115.
- Camburn, E., Spillane, J., & Sebastian, J. (2010). Assessing the utility of a daily log for measuring principal leadership practice. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 46, 707-737. doi:10.1177/0013161X10377343
- Catalano, R. F., Oesterle, S., Fleming, C. B., & Hawkins, J. D. (2004). The importance of bonding to school for healthy development: Findings from the social development research group. *Journal of School Health*, *74*, 252-261. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2004.tb08281.x
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal* of Sociology, 94, S95-S120.
- Combs, J. P., Edmonson, S., & Harris, S. (2013). *The trust factor: Strategies for school leaders*. New York, NY: Routledge. doi:10.4324/9781315853390

- Cosner, S., (2009). Building organizational capacity through trust. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 45, 248-291.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.7748/nr.12.1.82.s2
- Danielson, C. (2006). *Teacher leadership that strengthens professional practice*.Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- DeVita, M. C., Colvin, R. L., Darling-Hammond, L., Haycock, K. (2007, October). Education leadership: A bridge to school reform. Paper presented at the Wallace Foundation National Conference, New York, NY.
- Donaldson, M. L. (2013). Principals' approaches to cultivating teacher effectiveness:
 Constraints and opportunities in hiring, assigning, evaluating, and developing teachers. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 49, 838-882.
 doi:10.1177/0013161X13485961
- Downer, J. T., Rimm-Kaufman, S. E., & Pianta, R. C. (2007). How do classroom conditions and children's risk for school problems contribute to children's behavioral engagement in learning? *School Psychology Review*, 36, 413-432.
- DuFour, R., DuFour, R., & Eaker, R. (2009). *Revisiting professional learning* communities at work: New insights for improving schools. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.

Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015, P.L. 114-95 § 114 Stat. 1177 (2015).

Executive Office of the President. (1990). *National Goals for Education*. Washington, DC. ED319143

- Fullan, M. (2006). The development of transformational leaders for educational decentralization. Toronto, Canada: Micheal Fullan.
- Gage, N. A., Scott, T., Hirn, R., & MacSuga-Gage, A. S. (2017). The relationship between teachers' implementation of classroom management practices and student behavior in elementary school. *Behavioral Disorders*, 43, 302-315. doi:10.1177/0198742917714809
- Gershenson, S., & Langbein, L. (2015). The effect of primary school size on academic achievement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 37, 135-155. doi:10.3102/0162373715576075
- Goldkind, L., & Farmer, G. L. (2013). The enduring influence of school size and school climate on parents' engagement in the school community. *School Community Journal, 23*, 223-244.
- Gottfredson, D. C., & DiPietro, S. M. (2011). School size, social capacity, and student victimization. *Sociology of Education*, *84*, 69-89.
- Green, R. L. (2012). Practicing the art of leadership: A problem-based approach to implementing the ISLLC standards (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill Prentice-Hall.
- Greenwood, C. R., Horton, B. T., & Utley, C. A. (2002). Academic engagement: Current perspectives on research and practice. *School Psychology Review*, *31*, 328-349.
- Grissom, J. A., & Loeb, S. (2011). Triangulating principal effectiveness: How perspectives of parents, teachers, and assistant principals identify the central importance of managerial skills. *American Educational Research Journal, 48*, 1091-1123. doi:10.3102/0002831211402663

Hall, G. E., Quinn, I. F., & Gollnick, D. M. (Eds.) (2018). *The Wiley handbook of teaching and learning*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons. doi:10.1002/9781118955901

- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. H. (2010). Collaborative leadership and school improvement:
 Understanding the impact on school capacity and student learning. *School Leadership and Management, 30,* 329-351. doi:10.1080/0305764032000122005
- Hargreaves, A., & Fullan, M. (2013). Professional capital: Transforming teaching in every school. New York, NY: Teachers College Press. doi:10.1080/15582159.2012.733288
- Hattie, J. (2009). Visible learning: A synthesis of 800 meta-analysis relating to achievement. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Horng, E., & Loeb, S. (2010). New thinking about instructional leadership. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92, 66-69. doi:10.1177/003172171009200319
- Jackson, J. L. (1966). School size and program quality in southern high schools. Nashville, TN: Center for Southern Education Studies, George Peabody College for Teachers.
- Jimerson, L. (2006). The Hobbit effect: Why small works in public schools. Rural Trust Policy Brief Series on Rural Education. Arlington, VA: The Rural School and Community Trust. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED497985.pdf
- Johnson, R. B., & Christensen, L. (2014). *Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Johnston, S. L. (2009). Improving the school environment to reduce school violence: A review of the literature. *Journal of School Health, 79,* 451-465.

- Kern, L., & Clemens, N. H. (2007). Antecedent strategies to promote appropriate classroom behavior. *Psychology in the Schools*, 44, 65-75.
- Korpershoek, H., Harms, T., de Boer, H., van Kuijk, M., & Doolaard, S. (2016). A metaanalysis of the effects of classroom management strategies and classroom management programs on students' academic, behavioral, emotional, and motivational outcomes. *Review of Educational Research, 86*, 643-680. doi:10.3102/0034654315626799
- Lee, T., Cornell, D., Gregory, A., & Fan, X. (2011). High suspension schools and dropout rates for Black and White students. *Education and Treatment of Children, 34*, 167-192. doi:10.1353/etc.2011.0014
- Leithwood, K., Day, C., Sammons, P., Harris, A., & Hopkins, D. (2008). Seven strong claims about successful school leadership. *School Leadership & Management, 28,* 27-42. doi:10.1080/13632430701800060
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2009). A review of empirical evidence about school size effects: A policy perspective. *Review of Educational Research*, *79*, 464-490. doi:10.3102/0034654308326158
- Leithwood, K., & Louis, K. S. (2012). *Linking leadership to student learning*. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Leithwood, K., Louis, K. S., Anderson, S., & Wahlstrom, K. (2004). *How leadership influences student learning*. New York, NY: The Wallace Foundation.
- Leung, A., & Ferris, J. S. (2008). School size and youth violence. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization, 65,* 318-333.

- Loeb, S., Kalogrides, D., & Béteille, T. (2012). Effective schools: Teacher hiring, assignment, development, and retention. *Education Finance and Policy*, *7*, 269-304. doi:10.1162/edfp_a_00068
- Louis, K S., Dretzke, B., & Wahlstrom, K. (2010). How does leadership affect student achievement? Results from a national US survey. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 21*, 315-336. doi:10.1080/09243453.2010.486586
- Louis, K. S., Leithwood, K., Wahlstrom, K., & Anderson, S. (2010). Learning from leadership: Investigating the links to improved student learning. The Wallace Foundation. Retrieved from https://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledgecenter/Documents/Investigating-the-Links-to-Improved-Student-Learning.pdf
- Lunenburg, F. C., & Ornstein, A. C. (2012). *Educational administration: Concepts and practices* (6th ed.) Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- MacSuga-Gage, A. S., & Gage, N. S. (2015). Student-level effects of increased teacherdirected opportunities to respond. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 24, 273-288. doi:10.1007/s10864-015-9223-2
- Marzano, R. J., Waters, T., & McNulty, B. S. (2005). School leadership that works: From research to results. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. doi:10.1108/09578230710747857
- Murphy, J. (1988). Methodological, measurement, and conceptual problems in the study of instructional leadership. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *10*, 117-139. doi:10.3102/01623737010002117

- Musu-Gillette, L., Zhang, A., Wang, K., Zhang, J., Kemp, J., Diliberti, M., & Oudekerk,
 B. A. (2018). *Indicators of School Crime and Safety: 2017*. Retrieved from https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/iscs17.pdf
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2013). *Characteristics of private schools in the United States: Results from the 2011-2012 Private School Universe Study.* Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2013/2013316.pdf
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017a). *Characteristics of private schools in the U.S: Results from the 2015-2016 Private School Universe Survey*. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017073.pdf

National Center for Education Statistics. (2017b). Digest of education statistics.

Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d17/tables/dt17_211.10.asp

- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017c). *Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten class of 2010-2011*. Retrieved from http://www.nces.ed.gov/ecls
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018a). *Early Childhood Longitudinal Program Overview*. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/ecls
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018b). *Private School Universe Survey: Design*. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/surveys/pss/
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018c). *The condition of education: Private school enrollment*. Retrieved from

https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_cgc.asp

National Center for Education Statistics. (2019). *About us*. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/about

National School Climate Center. (2018). What is school climate? Retrieved from https://www.schoolclimate.org/about/our-approach/what-is-school-climate

No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, P.L. 107-110, 20 U.S.C. § 6319 (2002).

- Noltemeyer, A. L., Ward, R. M., & Mcloughlin, C. (2015). Relationship between school suspension and student out-comes: A meta-analysis. *School Psychology Review*, 44, 224-240. doi:10.17105/spr-14-0008.1
- Northouse, P. G. (2013). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.1108/jea-08-2013-0093
- Oliver, R., Wehby, J., & Reschly, D. (2011). Teacher classroom management practices: Effects on disruptive or aggressive student behavior. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 2011(4). 1-55. doi:10.4073/csr.2011.4
- Payton, J., Weissberg, R. P., Durlak, J. A., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., Schellinger,
 K. B., & Pachan, M. (2008). *The positive impact of social and emotional learning for kindergarten to eighth-grade students: Findings from three scientific reviews*. Chicago, IL: Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning.
- Pethel, G. E. (1978). An investigation of the relationship of school size and program quality in the public high schools of Georgia. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Georgia, Athens, GA.

Pianta, R. C., Hamre, B. K., & Allen, J. P. (2012). Teacher-student relationships and engagement: Conceptualizing, measuring, and improving the capacity of classroom interactions. In S. L. Christenson, A. L. Reschly, & C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of research on student engagement* (pp. 365-386). New York, NY: Springer.

Ravitch, D. (2014). *Reign of error*. New York, NY: Vintage Books. doi:10.5860/choice.51-5720

- Riha, M. W., Slate, J. R., & Martinez-Garcia, C. (2013). What we know about middle school size and student performance: A review of the literature. *Journal of Education Research*, 7, 205-229.
- Slate, J. R., & Jones, C. H. (2005). Effects of school size: Review of the literature with recommendations. *Essays in Education*, 13. Retrieved from http://edresearch.yolasite.com/resources/slate.pdf
- Slate, J. R., & Rojas-LeBouef, A. (2011). Calculating basic statistical procedures in SPSS: A self-help and practical guide to preparing theses, dissertations, and manuscripts. Ypsilanti, MI: NCPEA Press.
- Smith, J. A., & Slate, J. R. (2014). Private school principals of high and low achieving schools and student achievement and teacher collaboration. *Journal of Education Research*, 8, 197-202.
- Smith, P. (2013). The relationship between principal time allocation and work effectiveness: Evidence across city, suburban, town and rural school districts. *National Teacher Education Journal*, 6, 27-36.
- Stewart, J. (2012). Personalized learning: Hiring educators for the 21st century. *Education Canada*, 51-53.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2004). *No Child Left Behind: A toolkit for teachers*. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/teachers/nclbguide/nclb-teachers-toolkit.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education. (2009). *State regulation of private schools*. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/admins/comm/choice/regprivschl/regprivschl.pdf

- U.S. Department of Education. (2011). Spring 2011 Kindergarten School Administrator Questionnaire. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/ecls/pdf/kindergarten2011/Spring_K_School_Administrator.p df
- U.S. Department of Education. (2015). *Every Student Succeeds Act*. Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn
- von der Embse, N. P., Sandilos, L. E., Pendergast, L., & Mankin, A. (2016). A mediation analysis of teacher stress, self-efficacy, and job satisfaction. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 50, 308-317. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2016.08.001
- Vogt, W. P. (2005). Dictionary of statistics and methodology: A nontechnical guide for the social sciences (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Wang, M. T., Selman, R. L., Dishion, T. J., & Stormshak, E. A. (2010). A tobit regression analysis of the covariation between middle school students' perceived school climate and behavioral problems. *Journal of Research on Adolescence, 20*, 274-286. doi:10.111/j.1532-7795.2010.00648.x
- Williford, A. P., Maier, M. F., Downer, J. T., Pianta, R. C., & Howes, C. (2013).
 Understanding how children's engagement and teachers' interactions combine to predict school readiness. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 34, 299-309. doi:10.1016/j.appdev.2013.05.002
- Zepeda, S. J. (2015). Job-embedded professional development: Support, collaboration, and learning in schools. New York, NY: Routledge. doi:10.4324/9781315719693

Appendix

From: orsp@irb.shsu.edu <orsp@irb.shsu.edu> Sent: Thursday, January 24, 2019 8:16 PM To: Slate, John; Ushnoff-Brumbelow, Rosemary Subject: IRB-2018-174 - Initial: Exempt from IRB Review



Date: Jan 24, 2019 8:16 PM CST

TO: Rosemary Brumbelow John Slate FROM: SHSU IRB PROJECT TITLE: DIFFERENCES IN PRIVATE SCHOOL PRINCIPAL LEADERSHIP BEHAVIORS BY STUDENT ENROLLMENT: A NATIONAL STUDY PROTOCOL #: IRB-2018-174 SUBMISSION TYPE: Initial ACTION: Exempt DECISION DATE: January 24, 2019 EXEMPT REVIEW CATEGORY: Category 4. Research involving the collection or study of existing data, documents, records, pathological specimens, or diagnostic specimens, if these sources are publicly available or if the information is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects.

Greetings,

Thank you for your submission of Initial Review materials for this project. The Sam Houston State University (SHSU) IRB has determined this project is EXEMPT FROM IRB REVIEW according to federal regulations.

We will retain a copy of this correspondence within our records.

* What should investigators do when considering changes to an exempt study that could make it nonexempt?

It is the PI's responsibility to consult with the IRB whenever questions arise about whether planned changes to an exempt study might make that study nonexempt human subjects research.

In this case, please make available sufficient information to the IRB so it can make a correct determination.

If you have any questions, please contact the IRB Office at 936-294-4875 or <u>irb@shsu.edu</u>. Please include your project title and protocol number in all correspondence with this committee.

Sincerely,

Sharla Miles IRB Analyst Protection of Human Subjects Committee (PHSC-IRB)

VITA

Rosemary Ustinoff-Brumbelow

Educational History

Doctorate of Education–Educational Leadership, May 2019 Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, TX. Dissertation: Differences in private school principal leadership behaviors by student enrollment: A national study.

Master of Education, Curriculum and Instruction, May 2009 Nova Southeastern University, Ft. Lauderdale, FL

Bachelor of Science, Psychology, May 1986 University of Houston, Houston, TX

Professional Certifications

Montessori Certified Upper Elementary (North American Montessori Center) Montessori Secondary Certified I and II (Houston Montessori Center) IB MYP Certified Coordinator/Head of School Level 1 IB MYP Certified in Technology Dyslexia Reading Specialist Level 1 (Neuhaus Education Center)

Presentations

Ustinoff-Brumbelow, R., Lazar, K. L., Merchán, R. A., & Michaels-Johnson, R. R.(2018, February). *Exploring the Impact of 1:1 Technology Initiatives: A Case Study*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Southwest Educational Research Association (SERA), New Orleans, LA.

Professional Experience

Founder/Head of School, Esprit International School, Conroe ISD, May 1999-current